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ABOUT THE CDB

The Caribbean Development Bank (CDB) is a regional financial institution established by an
Agreement signed in Kingston, Jamaica, in 1969. It has a membership of 27 ‘countries eonsisting
of 19 regional borrowing members, 3 regional non-borrowing members and 5 non-regional non-
borrowing members. lts founders included 16 English speaking Caribbean countries as regional
borrowing members, and Canada and the United Kingdom as non-regional nonborrowing members.

The Bank was established for the purpose of contributing to the harmonious economic growth and
development of the member countries in the Caribbean, having special and urgent regard to the
needs of the Less Developed Countries (LDCs) of the Region. Of its 19 Borrowing Member Countries

(BMCs), 13 are designated LDCs: Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Belize, British Virgin Islands,
Cayman Islands, Dominica, Grenada, Haiti, Montserrat, St. Kitts and Nevis, St. Lucia, St. Vincent
and the Grenadines, Turks and Caicos Islands. The Bahamas, Barbados,

Jamaica, Guyana and Trinidad and Tobago are designated as More Developed Countries. The Bank
has two non-English-speaking borrowing members, Haiti and Suriname, which joined in September
2013. Colombia, Mexico and Venezuela are the regional nonborrowing members. Canada,
the People’s Republic of China, Germany, ltaly, and the United Kingdom are non-regional, non-
borrowing members.
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Wildey, St. Michael
Barbados, West Indies
May 20, 2015

Dr. the Hon. Timothy Sylvester Harris
Chairman

Board of Governors

Caribbean Development Bank

Dear Chairman:

| enclose the Annual Report of the Caribbean Development Bank for the year
ended December 31, 2014, which the Board of Directors, acting pursuant
to Paragraph 2 of Article 38 of the Agreement establishing the Caribbean
Development Bank and in accordance with Section 18 of the By-laws of the
Bank, has requested me to submit to the Board of Governors.

Yours sincerely
Wm. Warren Smith, Ph.D.
President




Risk Review 1

Our Finances: Management’s Discussion & Analysis 8

Audited Financials 16




N\

e =
A

g/ | L“’ '::v"‘- " Q'
>\ / “
R

\/ |
- r"
—

Py,

0% %

]
!

Y



INTRODUCTION —

onscious of the fact that risks are inherent in multi- . .
Cloterol development banking activities, and that The OHIC@ Of R|Sk

CDB  remains exposed, the Bank's Enterprise

Risk Management (ERM|) approach has defined risk as /\/\O ﬂ(]gemem (OR/\/\)
the emergence of issues, events or threats that inhibit . .

achievement of strategic objectives or earnings targefs. 1S an IﬂdepeﬂdeﬂT
The purpose of the ERM Framework is, therefore, to .

provide a common infegrated approach to monitoring, Ond IﬂTeg FO| pQ rf O][

managing and mitigating risks.

the Bank's activities.

The Framework includes Financial, Strategic, Operational
and Developmental risks, which are infrinsic to our

It is free from influence

functional processes and are reported accordingly to our
stakeholders. The ERM Framework is supported by several

and assumes @

key risk governance principles, including the use of a 'Risk
Appetite Statement’ framework (RAS), risk taxonomy, risk

supportive, advisory

control self-assessment, risk register and a Risk Committee.

The RAS sefs out high level quantitative and qualitative ;
boundaries within which the Bank's strategic initiatives are rO|e I(OI’ various
executed, and it defines the types and thresholds of risk ](U HCTIOHO| areqas

that the Bank is willing to accept. At year end, CDB was in
compliance with all its risk appetite thresholds as depicted

below. I
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Table I: OCR Loan Portfolio as at December 31, 2014

Risk Mesasure/ Measure Base Threshold Actual Rag Status

Policy Ratio Amount Limit

Capital Adequacy Miniumum - 150% of Economic Capital - $350 $714.5 204.1%
Single Sovereign Exposure Greater Of:
40% of Outstanding Loans $978.7 $391.5 $233.5 23.9%
50% of Total Available Capital $714.5 $357.2 $233.5 32.7%
Exposure To 3 Largest Borrowers Greater Of:
60% of Outstanding Loans $978.7 $587.2 $470.3 48.1%
90% of Total Available Capital $714.5 $643.0 $470.3 65.8%

Non-Sovereign Exposure Limit
Single Exposure 2.5% of Total Outstanding Loans $978.7 $24.5 $21.0 2.1%
Sector Exposure 30% of Total Outstanding Loans $978.7 $293.6 $41.8 4.3%

Investment Risk

Investment Risk - Single Entity Limit 10% of Total Investment Portfolio $258.5 $25.9 $23.6 9.1%
US Treasury or Gov't Agency 35% of Total Investment Portfolio $258.2 $90.4 $79.4 30.8%
Commercial Entity Exposure Limit 50% of Total Investment Portfolio $258.2 $129.1 $54.8 21.2%

Risk Mesasure/ Measure Base Threshold Actual Rag Status

Policy Ratio Amount Limit

Liquidity
Liquidity Risk Greater Of:
40% of Undisbursed Loans not yet effective $392.9 $157.2 $261.6 66.6%
3 Years of Net Funding Requirements $33.0 $330.0 $261.6 792.6%
Policy Based Loans (PBL) 30% of Total Outstanding Loans &
& Guarantees Guarantees $1.638.3  $491.50 $427.0  26.1.1%
Limit on Operations (Article 14.1) Equal to or less than limit $2,147.5 $988.9 46.0%
Borrowing Limit - Proforma Equal to or less than 100%
Capital Limit (as defined) $1,273.6 $530.3 41.6%
Borrowing Limit Equal to or less than 65%
- Capitalisation of Capitalisation $1,307.8 $530.3 40.5%
Organisation skills necessary to deliver CDB’s risk change management

initiatives, while actively managing risks, on an ongoing

The Office of Risk Management (ORM] is an independent
and infegral part of the Bank's activities. It is free from

influence and assumes a supportive, advisory role for i ' )
The ORM, headed by a Chief in the ERM Framework, namely Financial, Strategic,

basis. The focus of the new Staff under the direction of the
CRO is aligned to the broad categories of risk, as defined

various functional areas. .
Risk Officer (CRO), was established in 2013 and continues Operational and Developmental.

to evolve. The CRO reports directly to the President and  CDB operates on a standard three lines of defence
Board of Directors, and has responsibilities including

managing the Bank’s ERM programme.

structure, which is intended to ensure that all line functions
across the Bank maintain clearly defined roles, under the

During 2014, the ORM was fully-staffed with the key ~ERM Framework, as depicted below.
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Diagram I: Office of Risk Management Structure
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RISK MANAGEMENT

LINE 1 — FRONT-LINE FUNCTIONS: This represents
areas where risk-faking activities directly occur either
in the front, middle or back office.

LINE 2 - THE OFFICE OF RISK MANAGEMENT:
The ORM in a line 2 capacity provides leadership,
guidance, monitoring, and independent oversight of
the activities conducted by Line 1.

LINE 3 — INTERNAL AUDIT: Is responsible for, and
provides assurance on, the infernal compliance with
confrols.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is defined as the potential for material
losses arising from events caused by failures in people,
process and fechnology, as well as, external events. These
include direct internal loss and net of recoveries, as well
as any external direct costs, or write-down, involved in the
resolution of an operational failure.

The Bank uses different controls to mitigate operational risk
and avoid, or reduce operational losses fo a minimum.
These include the use of policies, procedures, good record
keeping, fraining and frequent and accurate reporting.

A Manual Risk Register, administered by Risk Liaison Officers
in the respective functional areas, records operational risk
issues, events, losses, near misses and accidental gains
on a monthly basis. The outputs from the Risk Register are
merged monthly info a single report and reviewed by the
CRO to determine which new controls to implement. It
effectively serves as a surveillance and early warning
system fo identify impending threats to the Bank.

a4

OFFICE OF RISK MANAGEMENT

RISK ASSURANCE

The Risk Register process is supported by an effective
annual Risk Control Self-Assessment [RCSA| programme,
which ensures that impending threats are identified and
the effectiveness of existing controls to mitigate them are
assessed. This process has enabled the ORM to gain a
firsthand overview of the Bank's potential operational
risks to determine which controls need to be implemented
CDB
has already begun the process of acquiring a dedicated

urgently fo improve the operating environment.

operational risk system, which will automate the monitoring
and reporting of risks across the Organisation.

Business Continuity

CDB has a Bank-wide Business Confinuity Framework in
place which provides for assured contingency response in
the event of an emergency. The Plan is being revamped
with ongoing assistance from an external expert, to
creafe a highly flexible model that involves organisational
counfer-measures, fo manage a wide range of service
disruptions in a structured manner.  The Bank also has
backup and IT recovery sites located outside of the CDB
campus, operating remotely from another country. During
the year, the Bank developed ‘call trees’ for all functions
to strengthen its ability to contact and monitor Staff, in the
event of an emergency. The risks of catastrophic loss are
covered by comprehensive risk avoidance programmes,
including insurance fo protect earnings from unexpected
events, such as, criminal activity, property loss or damage,
and other forms of liability exposures.
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IT Security

There are documented policies in place to manage the process, systems development, change management, information
security and access confrols of the Bank’s IT operations. During the year, CDB esfablished a dedicated IT Steering
Committee, chaired by the Head of IT, to provide oversight. All IT systems are backed up to host servers to ensure there
is continuity in the event of a disaster.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the threat of loss associated with obligors’ potential inability or unwillingness to fulfill their contractual
obligations. This may arise directly from the risk of default of a primary obligor, or indirectly from a secondary obligor.

In the normal course of business, credit risk for CDB arises when a counterparty fails to honour or perform its contractual
obligations under the terms of the lending agreement for a loan that has economic value. The failure to effectively
manage credit risk in the Bank’s portfolio can have a material, adverse impact on its financial risk profile.

The Loan Book

A disfribution of the loan portffolio is represented in Diagram Il below.

Diagram II: OCR Loan Portfolio as at December 31, 2014 - Outstanding USD
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Credit Risk Monitoring & Mitigating

The Bank’s risk management principles are predicated on a strong and evolving risk culture, independence of the
lending process, integrated management of the credit cycle and a high degree of specialisation. Credit exposure s,
therefore, calculated by taking into consideration the level of outstanding loans and a haircut of undisbursed balances
fo any counterparty, at any given point in fime. The Bank ensures the continuous development, implementation and
application of multiple controls in managing exposure to ensure that the balance sheet remains inherently strong.

These confrols include the use of internal ratings, individual and portfolio limits, market surveillance, pre-limit checking,
project appraisal risk, due diligence and portfolio diversification. CDB's diversification efforts, in particular, seek
to improve the geographic distribution and average rating of the portfolio over the medium term with an overview
represented in the following table.
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Table II
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CDB's geographic diversification efforts have yielded positive results, with frends in the movements of the portfolio
represented in the graphs following.

The Bank also applies other, more specific controls, including restricting its investment risk exposure to individual
investments with a minimum credit rating of A-/A3 (by Standard & Poor's rating agency and Moody's Investors Service,
respectively) for commercial bank obligations; and AA-/Aa3 for government obligations and use of master nefting
agreements.
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Capital Risk

The Bank’s capital position remains extremely strong, as
evidenced in ifs internal economic capital and capital
adequacy calculations. CDB's capital adequacy measures
the degree to which its risk copifo| is sufficient for absorbing
unexpected credit shocks from its loan portfolio while still
being able to lend for development purposes. This is
infended to protect shareholders from a possible call on
callable capital and preserve CDB's credit rafing, as well
as reduce borrowing costs and lending rates to borrowers.

The measures adopted by the Bank include: improving
capital adequacy, encouraging new lending to highly rated
BMCs, supporting lower rated entfities with interventions
sourced from its soft funding window, introducing hard
credit limit controls, minimising concentration, strengthening
operational confrols, and managing undisbursed balances
to eliminate redundancies, as well as maintaining a robust
capital and debt collection process.

Manual Internal Capital Adequacy
Calculations

The ORM voluntarily computes the Bank's capital
adequacy calculations manually applying the Basel |l
framework to compare its results with those of the external
rating agencies.

Under Pillar |, the ORM uses a Basic Indicator Approach for
Operational Risk and a modified Standardised Approach
for Credit Risk.

Under Pillar II, the Bank ensures that all other residual risks
over and above Pillar I are computed, which includes, but
is not limited to, additional liquidity requirements, interest
rate in the Banking Book, business and concentration
risks. This is then complemented with top-down /bottom-up
scenario assessments, to determine the extent of additive
capital needed, as a cushion against unexpected risk
losses.

Under Pillar 1ll, CDB has undertaken to discharge its
enhanced risk disclosure reporting obligations by ensuring
that its risk positions and developments are clearly
segmented and reported in annual reports, with plans to
replicate this information on its website in 2015.

Market Risk

Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate,
currency and equities at CDB, all of which are exposed
fo external market movements. CDB separates exposure
to market risk info frading or non-rading portfolios.
Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market
making, position faking and others designated as marked-
to-market. Non-rading portfolios comprise positions that
primarily arise from interest rate management. CDB's
overall objective is to manage its market risks to minimise
market losses and optimise ifs return.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from changes in interest rates on the
fair value of the Bank's financial instruments or transactions.
CDB manages its inferest rate exposure by ensuring that
the changes in the cash flow of its assets closely match
those of its liabilities. This re|0fionship is controlled with
the use of interest rate swaps, which convert fixed-rate
liabilities into floatingrate liabilities. During the year, the
Bank swapped the remaining amount of its US$150
million fixed-term borrowing to a variable rate, with the
product provided by a highly rated financial institution.
While these strategies addressed most of CDB's interest
rate risk, residual exposure to other risks still remain,
including refinancing risk and interest rate lag risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk

CDB is exposed to fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash
flows. All loans by the Bank are made either from currencies
available from members’ subscriptions, or from currencies
borrowed, with the principal amounts repayable to the
Bank in the currencies lent.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the threat of not having sufficient financial
resources to meet obligations as they fall due; or, having
access fo such resources, but only at an excessive cost.
This risk arises when there are mismatches in the timing
of cash flows. Funding risk, a form of liquidity risk, arises
when funds needed for illiquid assef positions cannot be
obtained on the expected terms when required.

The objective of CDRB's liquidity and funding management
framework is to ensure that all foreseeable funding
commitments can be met when due, and that access to
the wholesale market is coordinated and cost effective.
To that end, the Bank seeks to maintain a diversified
funding base augmented with wholesale funding access
and maintenance of a portfolio of highly liquid assets, to
enable it fo respond quickly to unforeseen liquidity gaps.

CDB loans are generally disbursed over several years;
and, as a result, the Bank continues to have undisbursed
balances on approved loans.  The liquidity risk remains
with the Bank as it is required to provide funds to the
borrowers as and when requested, provided that the
conditions precedent for disbursement are satisfied. This
risk is managed by conformity to the Bank's policy of
maintaining a net three years’ funding requirement, or
40% of undisbursed commitments, whichever is greater.
Presently, CDB's liquid assets exceed the 150% prudential
minimum guideline, which is in keeping with Management's
decision to maintain high liquidity levels.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

DB (The Bank) is a multilateral financial institution
C dedicated to the development of the economies

of its BMCs, with a focus on the LDCs, primarily
through project loans and technical assistance to the
governments, public agencies and other entities in
those countries. The Bank's main goals are to promote
sustainable economic development and fo reduce poverty.
The primary financial objective is to earn adequate
operational income fo mainfain financial strength and
to sustain its developmental activities. The Bank was
established in 1969 and is owned by the member
countries. These members include 19 borrowing member
countries and 8 non-borrowing members.

The operations of the Bank are divided into two
categories, ordinary operations and special operations.
Ordinary operations are financed from CDB’s Ordinary
Capital Resources [OCR) which comprises share capital,
borrowings raised in the capital markets, lines of credit from
commercial and other multilateral institutions and internally-
generated equity. Special operations are financed from
the Special Funds Resources (SFR), comprising the Special
Development Fund [SDF) and Other Special Funds (OSF).

Contributions are made to the SDF for on-ending to
deserving projects at low fixed rates of interest and

extended maturities, taking into account the economic
circumstances of the BMC country in which the project
is being undertaken as well as the ultimate objectives of
the project. The Bank also accepts contributions to the
OSF for on-lending or administering on terms agreed with
the contributors once the purposes are consistent with its
objectives and functions.

The principal assets are loans to the BMCs. Projects may
be funded by a combination of OCR and SFR resources.
Resources may also be used to guarantee loans of high
developmental priority, and will usually comprise longer
maturities and grace periods, as well as lower inferest
rates than usually pertains in the operations of the OCR.

In 2014, the Bank started the process of diversifying its
portfolio with 51% of the approvals made to the MDCs.
There were 19 loans which were approved amounting
to $243.8mn (2013: $139.0mn), of which $173.8mn
(2013: $109.0mn) were funded from OCR resources
and $70.0mn (2013: $30.0mn) from SFR resources.
Grant funded operations amounted to $25.7mn (2013:
$18.4mn). Of the approvals in 2014, loans fo the [DCs
amounted to $118.9mn (2013: $73.4mn), comprising of
$80.7mn (2013: $66.3mn) from the OCR and $38.2mn
(2013: $7.1mn) from the SFR.
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ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following discussion should be read in conjunction
with the audited financial statements of the OCR and
accompanying notes set out in Part VI of this report.

Financial Statement Reporting

The financial statements of the OCR are prepared
in accordance with Infernational  Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) on an historical cost basis, except as
modified by the revaluation of investment securities held
at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
instruments.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
fo exercise judgement in the process of applying its
accounting policies.

All of the amounts shown in the financial statements are US
dollar equivalents.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies are those that are important
both to the portrayal of the financial condition and results
and that require management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgements, often as a result of the need to make
estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently
uncertain. The following have been identified as critical
accounting policies:

e Derivative financial instruments, and
® Loan loss provisions.

The accounting policies are more fully described in the
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Derivative financial instruments

The OCR financial statements comply with IFRS which
require that all derivatives, as defined by IAS 39, be
recorded at their fair value with changes in the fair value
recognised in comprehensive income. The resulting
reported income volafility resulting from compliance
with this accounting standard in respect of the derivative
financial instruments is not representative of the underlying
strategy or economics of the transactions as it is the Bank's
policy to hold these instruments to maturity. In accordance
with policy the Bank excludes the impact of the fair value
adjustments and related foreign exchange translation
adjustments associated with these financial instruments
from the determination of its operating income upon which
its financial performance is evaluated and liquidity, capital
adequacy and other analyses are based.

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
against the impacts of interest rates and currency risks in
the borrowing portfolio, and to align its borrowing and
lending activities to a variable rate basis. These financial
instruments are cross currency interest rate swaps and
inferest rate swaps with major international banks by

10 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014

which proceeds of borrowings made in other currencies
and at fixed rafes are transformed into U.S. dollars at
floating rates linked to LIBOR.

The Bank holds derivatives for each of the two Japanese
Yen denominated borrowings for a total notional amount
of $163.2mn and for the fixed-rate borrowing negotiated
in 2012 for $300.0mn for a total notional amount of
$463.2mn.

Loan Impairment Provisions

Management reviews the loan portfolios at least on an
annual basis to assess for impairment. In determining
whether an  impairment should be recorded in the
statement of comprehensive income, management makes
judgements as to whether there are any observable data
indicating that there is a measureable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans such
that the Bank will not be able to recover all amounts due

The operating income
increased by $10.1mn
which was driven by
reductions in interest
expenses and net non-
inferest expenses of

$4 .8mn and $5.0mn.

according to the original contractual terms of the loans.
This evidence may include observable data indicating that
there has been an adverse change in the payment status
of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on the assefs. In
December 2013, the Board of Directors approved a new
policy for the measurement of impairment. This policy
measures the impairment loss by multiplying the exposure
at default fimes the probability of default for the rating at
the maturity profile for each borrower times the loss given
default for the sector. This result is then measured against
any existing accumulated provisions and the amount that
is held in the Bank’s General Banking Reserve. Any excess
requirement is then charged to the current year's provision.

Results of Operations of OCR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: The OCR operations of

the Bank recorded total comprehensive income of $40.9mn,
representing an increase of $29.1mn from the amount

of $11.8mn for the year ended December 31, 2013.



RATE/VOLUME ANALYSIS

Increase/(Decrease) Due to

Rate Volume Tofal
Interest-earning assets
Cash & Investments (0.17) (0.94) 1.11
Loans 1.05 0.74 1.79
Total earning assets 0.88 (0.20) 0.68
Interest-bearing liabilities (1.771) (3.11) (4.82)
Net interest income 2.59 2.91 5.50

This increase was due to an improved performance in
operating income of $10.1mn and a positive change in
derivative adjustments of $35.6mn. These were offset by
a reduction of $16.7mn in the actuarial re-measurements
which are now required to be included in the statement of
comprehensive income.

OPERATING INCOME: Operating income is defined as
comprehensive income adjusted for the effects of the
derivative adjustment and the foreign exchange translation
on the related Japanese yen borrowings. It is the income
which is used to analyse the performance of the Bank,
and is allocated to reserves by the Board of Governors in
accordance with the Bank’s Charter. The operating income
increased by $10.1mn which was driven by reductions in
interest expenses and net non-interest expenses of $4.8mn
and $5.0mn respectively.

INCOME FROM LOANS: loan income increased by
$1.4mn during the year 2014. This was due to a change
in the average yield from 3.89% in 2013 to 4.04% in
2014.

Income from cash and investments: For the year ended
December 31, 2014, income from cash and investments
was $2.8mn compared to $3.9mn. This was mainly due to
a reduction in the average portfolio of $105.9mn resulting
from the repayment of the borrowing of $150.0mn in July
2014.

INTEREST EXPENSE: Interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2014, was $10.8mn, a decrease of

$4.8mn compared to $15.6mn in 2013. This was due
fo a combination of a full year's effect of the swap of
$150.0mn of the fixed rate bonds (4.375%) which was
negotiated in August 2013 and the second swap of the
remaining balance of the bonds of $150.0mn which was
negotiated in September 2014.

NET NON-INTEREST EXPENSES: In 2014, net non-
interest expenses decreased by $5.0mn compared with
2013. This was mainly due to the movements of $7.7mn,
($1.8mn) and ($0.7mn) in the realised/unrealised gains/
losses, other income and provision for loan impairment
respectively.

RATE/VOLUME ANALYSIS: The rate/volume analysis
shows the changes in the net earning assets due to changes
in the Bank's lending rate, the yield on investments and the
cost of borrowings.

Financial Position of the OCR

TOTAL ASSETS: At December 31, 2014, total assets
were $1,378.5mn, representing a decrease of $73.8mn
(5.1%) from $1,452.3mn in 201 3. This decrease was due
primarily to the repayment of a borrowing of $150.0mn
which was due in July 2014. This was offset by inflows
from capital subscriptions and the drawdown of a short-
term facility.

DEBT AND OTHER LIABILITIES: Total liabilities decreased
by $151.7mn (21.4%) from $708.7mn at December
31, 2013 to $557.0mn at December 31, 2014 mainly

NET NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

Administrative expenses

$11.3 $10.7

Other income

(0.3) (2.0)

Exchange rate adjustments

0.3 0.6
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due to debt retirements of $150.0mn and the use of the
shortterm facility mentioned in “Total Assets” above. There
was also a decline in the yen denominated borrowings of
$20.8mn due to the impact of currency translations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY: At December 31, 2014, CDB’s
equity totaled $821.6mn, compared with $743.6mn as at
December 31, 2013. The increase was due fo new paid-
in capital of $43.2mn and tfotal comprehensive income
earned of $48.7mn which was reduced by $7.8mn
from the actuarial remeasurements and an allocation from
net income of $6.0mn. Total equity currently represents
59.6% of the Bank's liabilities and capital at the end of
this reporting period.

NON-PERFORMING LOANS: CDB's policy on non-
performing loans precludes new loan approvals to
any borrower, or guarantor, which is in arrears on an
earlier loan, until the default has ended, or satisfactory
arrangements have been made for payment of the
arrears. The Bank also maintains constant dialogue
with its borrowers to ensure prompt setflement of debts,
which serves to minimize arrears in its loan portfolio. As
at December 31, 2014, there were two non-performing
loans in the portfolio with a total amount outstanding of
$5.4mn, which has been fully provided for.

IMPAIRMENT POLICIES: Due fo the nature of the Bank’s
borrowers and guarantors, the Bank expects to receive
all of the amounts due on its sovereign guaranteed loans.
In addition, the Bank’s sovereign portfolio has been fully
performing since the Bank's inception. IAS 39 requires that
an entity assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of assets is impaired. In December 2013,
the Board of Directors approved a policy which was
described under the section entifled “loan Impairment
Provisions”. The Bank currently carries no loan loss
provision on ifs sovereign portfolio and has a General
Banking Reserve of $7.0mn which has been identified
fo mitigate any risk of non-performance. In addition, the
non-sovereign porffolio has an accumulated provision of
$6.3mn comprising of $5.4mn in respect of the loans
which were mentioned in the previous paragraph and an
inherent provision of $0.9mn.

Special Development Fund

The Special Development Fund, (SDF/the Fund), was
established in 1970 and is the Bank'’s largest pool of “soft”
funds, offering loans on “softer” terms and conditions than
those that are applied in the Bank's ordinary operations,
i.e., longer maturities and grace periods and lower inferest
rates. It is thus a key element in the aid architecture for the
Caribbean and in the role and operations of the Bank for
the benefit of the BMCs. It is an instrument for addressing
deep-seated issues of poverty, vulnerability and human
development in the countdown to the target date of 2015
for the Millenium Development Goals (MDGs). It also plays
an important role in the challenges of climate change,
economic adjustment and regional integration.
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The SDF originally offered an assortment of terms
and conditions which were fixed by the Fund's various
contributors. These differing terms and conditions created
a number of complexities and inefficiencies in the Fund's
operation, which prompted the decision to set up a fund
with a uniform set of rules. Hence, in 1983, SDF(U) was
formed.

All members of the Bank are required to contribute
to SDF(U), and contributions are also sought from non-
members. Confributions are interestfree and provided
on a multiyear basis, for an indefinite term.  SDF(U)
also has consistent terms, objectives and procurement
conditions and thus overcomes the problems associated
with individual donors and funding arrangements. There is
a supplementary governance structure through an Annual
Meeting of Contributors which provides the focus for the
SDF(U)'s operations and receives an annual report on the
performance of the fund. Non-members were also invited
fo participate as observers in meetings of the Bank’s Board

of Directors (BOD) and Board of Governors.

SDF(U) funding is provided in fouryear replenishments,
except for the third replenishment cycle (SDF4) which
was extended by an exira year as a result of additional
confributions from a new member joining the Bank. The
eighth replenishment cycle (SDF8) commenced in January
2013 with an approved programme level of $348mn,
comprising $208mn in loans to eligible countries, $30mn
for rehabilitation and reconstruction lending, $100mn in
grant set asides and $10mn for loans to Suriname, the
Bank’s newest member. By the end 2014, $135mn had
been committed comprising $98mn loans and $37mn in
grants.

SUMMARY OF RESULTS OF SDF

The following discussion should be read in conjunction
with the audited financial statements of the SDF and
notes set out in Part V of this report.

Result of Operations of SDF

At December 31, 2014, there was net income of
$0.02mn for the year, compared with ($2.2mn) in 2013.
Gross income for the year was $14.1mn, an increase
of $1.4mn from $12.7mn in 2013. This increase was
due to higher levels of investment income in 2014. Total
expenses were $14.1mn, a decrease of $0.8mn when
compared fo 2013.

INCOME FROM LOANS: At December 31, 2014, loan
income changed marginally to $12.0mn from $12.1mn
at December 31, 2013 arising from a marginal change
in the average balances.

INCOME FROM CASH AND INVESTMENTS: At December
31, 2014, income from cash and investments of $2.1mn
increased from $0.6mn achieved in 2013. The increase
in 2014 was due to a much lower level of unrealized
losses in 2014 compared to 2013.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES: At December 31, 2014,



SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (expressed in millions of United States dollars)

Balance sheet data 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Loans outstanding(1) 982.7 967.9 972.3 1,007.5 993.5

Total assets 1,378.5 1,452.3 1,640.8 1,543.1 1,268.9

Borrowings outstanding 530.3 675.4 920.2 857.9 653.2

Paid-in capital 374.4 360.3 341.3 331.0 206.8

Income statement data

Investment income 4.8 (1.8) 4.8 1.8 3.4

Foreign exchange translation 0.3 0.6 0.1 0.2 (0.1)

Operating income 28.1

Ratios
Return on:

Average investments 1.53% (0.43%) 1.47% 0.80% 1.48%

Cost of borrowings 1.83% 2.04% 1.26% 1.11% 1.16%

(1) Net of provisions.

(2) Defined as the sum of paid-in capital, total reserves, retained earnings after adjustment for derivatives and the currency translation on related
borrowings and subscriptions paid in advance, less the General Banking Reserve, subscriptions not yet due or overdue and demand obligations from
borrowers.

administrative expenses were $14.5mn, a marginal  currencies in relation to the US dollar.

decrease of $0.1mn from $14.6mn in 2013. The SDF's

share of the Bank's total administrative expenses is based

on a predetermined costsharing formula, which is driven by
the relative number of loans and their stage of execution.

CHARGES ON CONTRIBUTIONS: At December 31,
2014, charges on contributions were $0.01mn, down
from $0.03mn in 2013 due to the reduction in repayable
contributions outstanding.

EXCHANGE: At December 31, 2014, foreign exchange
translation losses were $0.5mn, compared with gains of
$0.2mn in 2013 as a result of the volatility in the various

Financial Position of the SDF

TOTAL ASSETS: At December 31 2014, total assets were
$954.8mn, representing an increase of $30.5mn (3.3%
from $924 .3mn at the end of 2013.

INVESTMENTS: At December 31, 2014, SDF cash and
investments amounted to $332.5mn, compared with
$335.8mn at the end of 2013. Investment income for
the year amounted to $2.1mn, representing a return of
0.61%, on average liquidity of $344.3mn, compared
with an income of $0.6mn, representing a return of 0.18%

»



on average liquidity of $344.6mn in 2013,

LOAN PORTFOLIO: At December 31, 2014, totdl
outstanding loans were $546.8mn, $25.2mn (4.8%)
higher than the $521.6mn outstanding at the end of
2013.

CONTRIBUTIONS: Contributions to the SDF net of
allocations to technical assistance and grant resources
decreased by $8.2mn (1.2%) to $697.0mn in 2014
from $705.3mn in 2013. This was due fo the increase in
the allocations to technical assistance and grant resources
which are transferred to the OSF.

Other Special Funds

The Other Special Funds [OSF) was established to carry
out the special operations of the Bank by providing
resources on concessional ferms to assist BMCs in poverty
reduction. Resources are provided by contributions from
members and other contributors.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
accounting policies set out in the notes fo the financial
statements.

Summary of Results of OSF

The following discussion should be read in conjunction

with the audited financial statements of the OSF and notes
set out in Part V of this report.

Result of Operations of OSF

At December 31, 2014, the net income was $2.8mn, an
increase of $1.9mn from $0.9mn in 2013.

INCOME FROM LOANS: At December 31, 2014, income
from loans was $2.6mn, a marginal decrease from

$2.7mn in 2013.

INCOME FROM CASH AND INVESTMENTS: At December
31, 2014, income from cash and investments increased to
$1.9mn from $0.6mn in 2013. The change in investment
income was due to a lower level of unrealised losses
in 2014 and from dividends received from the equity
portfolio.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES: At December 31, 2014,
administrative expenses were $1.2mn, marginally lower
than $1.3mn at December 31, 2013. The OSF's share of
the total administrative expenses for the Bank as a whole
is based on a predetermined cost-sharing formula, which
is driven by the relative levels of loan count.

CHARGES ON CONTRIBUTIONS: At December 31, 2014,
charges on confributions were $0.9mn, a decrease from
$1.0mn in 2013 due to repayments within the portfolio.

ANALYSIS OF ACTUAL EXPENSES FOR 2014 AND 2013 ($’ mn)

$' mn $’ mn $' mn %

Professional fees and Consultants

Maintenance and Utilities

Supplies and Printing

Computer Services

Library

Bank and safekeeping charges

Other

Depreciation

—r
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EXCHANGE: At December 31, 2014, foreign exchange
translation gains were $0.5mn, compared to a loss
of $0.02mn in 2013. Foreign exchange ftranslation
movement is a result of the volatility in various currencies
in relation to the US dollar.

Financial Position of the OSF
TOTAL ASSETS: At December 31, 2014, total assets were

$279.5mn, representing an increase of $6.3mn from

$273.2mn at the end of 2013.

INVESTMENTS: At December 31, 2014, cash and
investments amounted to $102.7mn, compared with
$88.2mn at the end of 2013. The investment portfolio

[ ]
SDF(U) funding is provided

in 4-year replenishments,
except for the third
replenishment cycle which
was extended by an
extra year as a result of
additional contributions
from a new member.

included assets from the Microfinance Guarantee Fund
and the Interest Subsidy Fund that are externally managed.
In addition, included in the investment portfolio are equity
investments amounting to $10.4mn (2013: $9.8mn).

LOAN PORTFOLIO: At December 31, 2014, total
outstanding loans were $116.4mn, o decrease of
$3.1mn (2.6%) from $119.5mn in 2013. This was due
fo repayments over the year 2014.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE: There was a decrease in
accounts receivable from $65.5mn in 2013 to $60.4mn
in 2014. This decrease was due to transfers of cash as
reimbursement for the Basic Needs Trust Fund account.

LIABILITIES AND FUNDS: At December 31, 2014,
liabilities and funds totalled $279.5mn, representing
increases of $5.5mn, $2.9mn and $0.7mn in technical
assistance and grant resources, accumulated net income
and liabilities respectively. These increases were offset by
a decrease of $2.7mn in contributed resources.

Administrative Expenses

A comparative analysis of major administrative expenditure
items is shown below. At December 31, 2014, expenses
were $26.9mn, increasing by $0.2mn from $26.7mn in
2013.
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Bullding a better
working world

Independent Auditors' Report
To the Board of Governors of Caribbean Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Ordinary Capital Resources of the
Caribbean Development Bank (the Bank) which comprise the statement of financial position as of
December 31, 2014, statement of changes in equity, statement of comprehensive income, and statement of
cash flows for the vear then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
cxplanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Munagemenl is responsible for the preparaiion and fair presenlalion of these [nancidl stalementls in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
condncted onr andit in accordance with Tnternational Standards on Anditing. Those standards requuire that
we cortply with ethicdl requirernents and plan and perform the audil Lo oblain reasonable assurance aboul
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedurcs sclected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to traud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial stafements in order to design andit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An andit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accouniing estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufticient and appropriate to provide a bagis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the
Ordinary Capital Resources of the Bank as of December 31, 2014, and its financial performance and cash
flows for the vear then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

E_rn's'\"%\lm*\b

Chartered Accountants
Barbados
March 12, 2015
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Statement of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

Assels

Cash resources
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments
Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss

Receivables and prepayments
Loans

Loans outstanding

Receivable from members
Non-negotiable demand notes
Maintenance of value on currency holdings
Subscriptions in arrears

Derivative financial instruments

Other asscts
Property and equipment

Total assets

Notes

10
11
12

13

14

2014 2013

$34,202 $67,723

232,766 289.525

7,607 10,779

982,671 967,936

45,032 44,012
3,711 2,887
11,234 7.386
39,977 54,285

32,403 53,986

8,879 8,039

$1,378 505 $1,452,273

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Statement of Financial Position (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Notes
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilitics
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 15 $2,397 $2.767
Subscriptions in advance 16 8,750 13,310
Deferred income 17 650 800
Post-employment obligations 18 14,856 9,632
Borrowings
Short term facility 19 30,000 -
Long term borrowings 19 500,301 530,301 675,377
Derivative financial instruments 13 - 6,797
Total Liabilities $556,954 $708.683
Equity
Subscriptions matured (net) 20(b) $299.468 $256,374
Retained earnings and reserves 20(f) 522,083 487,216
Total Equity $821,551 $743,590
Total Liabilities and Equity $1,378,505 $1.452.273

Approved by the Board of Directors on March 12, 2015 and signed on their behalf by:

/l@/\ Cowlally, B

W™AVarren Sfiith  \ Carlyle Assue
Pfesident Director (Ag.), Finance & Corporate

Planning

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

Post
Employment
Capital Retained Obligations Other
Stock  Earnings Reserve Reserves Total
Noles

Balance as of January 1,
2013 $218,745 $474,188 $(12,905) $14,110 $694,138
New capital subscriptions 20(b) 37,629 - - - 37,629
Net income for the year - 2,925 - - 2,925
Other comprehensive 18 - - 8.898 - 8.898
income
Transfer from general
banking reserve 20(t) - 850 - (850) -
Balance as of December 31,
2013 $256,374 $477,963 $(4,007) $13,260 $743,590
New capital subscriptions 20(b) 43,179 z = - 43,179
Prepayment discount 20(e) {85) - - - (83)
Net income for the year - 48,637 - - 48,637
Other comprehensive 10ss 18 - - (7.770) - (7,770)
Allocation from net income  20(g) - (6,000) - - {6,000)
Balance as of December 31,
2014 $299,468 $520,600 $(11,777) $13,260 $821,551

The accompanying notes form an integral pait of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Notes
Interest and similar income
Loans 21(a) $40,504 $39,107
Investments and cash balances 21(b) 2,795 3,909
43,299 43,016
Interest expense and similar charges
Borrowings 20,107 21,119
Other financial income (9,335) (5,534)
21(c) 10,772 15,585
Net interest income 32,527 27,431
Other (Income)/expenses
Other income (326) (2,074)
Realised and unrealised fair value
(gains)/losses {1,990) 5,681
Provision for loan impairment 9(c) 1,543 850
Administrative expenscs 22 11,253 10,749
Foreign exchange translation 350 611
10,830 15,817
Operating income 21,697 11,6141
Derivative fair valuc adjustment 23 6,182 (47.156)
Foreign exchange gain in translation on Yen
borrowings 15(b) 20,738 38,467
26,940 (8,689)
Net income for the year 48,637 2,925
Other comprehensive income
Remeasurements — Actuarial (losses)/gains 18 (7.770) 8.898
Total comprehensive income for the year $40,867 $11,823

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Operaling activities: Notes
Net income for the year $48,637 $2.925
Adjustments:
Unrealised (gain)/loss on debt securities (1,785) 5,698
Depreciation 14 1,465 1,306
Gain ont disposal of Gxed assels (1) (9)
Derivative fair valie adjnstment (6,182) 47,156
Interest income (43,299) (43,016)
Interest expense 10,772 15,585
Provision/ (net recovery) for loan impairment 9(c) 1,513 (2,818)
Foreign exchange gain in translation on Yen borrowings  19(b) (20,758) (38,467)
Increase in maintenance of value on currency
holdings (824) (231)
Net foreign exchange difference - (1)
Total cash flows used in operating activities before
changes In operating assets and liabilities (10,432) (11,872)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease/ {(increase) in receivables and prepayments 3172 (557)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (370) (1,849)
Increase/ (decrease) in post-employment obligations (2,546) 1,773
Net decrease in debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 58,216 104,834
Cash provided by operafing activifies 48,040 92,329
Disbursements on loans 2b) (100,783) (84,318)
Principal repayments on loans 9(b) 84,519 90,599
Interest received 43,613 44,402
Interesl paid (11,324) (16,729)
Net cash provided by operating activifies 64,065 126,283
Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment 14 (2,455) (1,134)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment | 9
Net cayh nyed in Investing activitiey (2,434) (1,125)
Financing activities:
New borrowings 19(b) 34,894 -
Repayments on borrowings 19(b) (157,692) (204,290)
Allocation of net income 20(g) (6,000) -
New capital subscriptions 20(b) 43,179 37,629
Prepayment discounts 20(b) (85) -
(Decrease)/ increase in Subscriptions in advance (4,560) 9,172
{Increase) decrease in receivables from members {4.868) 3.653
Net cash used in financing activitics (95,132) {153,836)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (33,521) (28,678)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 67,723 96,401
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 $34,202 $67,723

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Caribbean Development Bank (“CDB” or “the Bank”) is an international organisation established by
an Agreement (“Charter”) signed in Kingston, Jamaica, on October 18, 1969 and accepted and ratified by
all the member conntries which are signatories thereto. The Charter is an internafional treaty which,
together with the instruments of ratification and accession by member countries, is deposited with the
United Nations Secretary-General The Charter entered into force on Jamwary 26, 1970 and CDR
commenced operations on January 31, 1970. Since then other countries have become members of CDB
by acceding to the Charter.

CDB was established as a regional financial institution for the purpose of contributing to the harmonious
economic growth and development of the member countries in the Caribbean (**Region™) and to promote
cconomic cooperation and integration among them, with special and urgent regard to the needs of the less
developed members of the Region. The Bank’s headquarters is located in Wildey in the parish of Saint
Michael in the island of Barbados.

The membership of the Bank is open (o (a) Stales and Territories of the Regioig (b) Non-Regiomdl States
which are members of the United Nations or any of its specialized agencies or of the International Atomic

Energy Agency.

The membership of the Bank is comprised of twenty-two (22) regional states and territories and five (5)
non-regional states (2013: 22 regional states and territorics and 5 non-regional states). A detailed listing
ot the membership is provided at Note 20{c) - Equity.

Redncing poverty in the region is CB’s main objective and its lending and finding activities are carried
out in its Borrowing Member Countries (“BMCs"). In advancing this objective, the Bank partticipates in
the selection, study and preparation of projects contributing to poverty reduction and where necessary,
provides technical assistance. These activities are financed through its shareholder funds comprising paid-
in capital, retained earnings and reserves which are referred to as its Ordinary Capital Resources (“OCR”)
and borrowings.

Attainment of the Bank’s objectives are also supplemented by the Special Development Fund (“SDE™)
and Other Special Funds (“OSF”) which comprise its Special Fund Resources (“SFR”) with distinct
assets and liabilities and which are subject to different operational, financial and other rules as set out by
the contributors to these funds. They are independently managed from the OCR and there is no recourse
to the OCR for obligations in respect of any of the liabilities of the SDF or OSF.

Mohilising financial resources is an integral part of CDR’s operational activities. CDR, alone or jointly,
administers funds restricted for specific uses which include technical assistance, granis and regional
programmes on behalf of donors, including members, some of their agencies and other development
institutions.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 2 —SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these tinancial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except where otherwise
stated. Prior year comparafives have been adjnsted or amended to conform with the presenfafion in the
current year where applicable.

Basls of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) under the historical cost basis, except as modified by the revaluation of debt securities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments (cross currency interest rate swaps and interest
rate swaps) which arc reflected at fair value. The financial statements arc presented in United States
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand, except where otherwise indicated.

The financial stafements comprise the statement of financial position, the statement of comprehensive
income, the stalement of changes in equily, the stalement of cash Qows and the noles Lo the fnancial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 (the reporting date).

The presentation format of the Bank’s statement of comprehensive income reflects the operating income
from the Bank’s core activities. In the opinion of management, this enhances the information to the users
of the Bank’s financial statcments as operating income represents the basis upon which the Bank’s
financial. liquidity. capital adequacy. efficiency and other performance ratios and measures are
determined.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates.
It also requires management to exercige its judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting
policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period
the assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that
the Bank’s financial statements, therefore, present its financial position fairly. Areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4 - “Critical accounting estimates and judgments”.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
New and amended standards and interpretations

The Rank applied for the first fime certain standards and amendments, which are effective for anmal
periods beginning on or after 1 Jamuary 2014. The nature and the impact of each new standard and
amendment is described below:

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), effective Jamuary 1, 2014

These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and must be applied
retrospectively, subject to certain transition relief. The exception to consolidation requires investment
cntitics to account for subsidiarics at fair value through profit or logs. These amendments arc not
applicable to the Bank as its operations are not subject to consolidation requirements.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Lichilities - Amendments to TAS 32, effective Jameary 1, 2014
These amendments clarily the meaning of “currenily has a legally enforceable right Lo sel-ofT and the
criteria for non-simultanecus seftlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting and is
applied retrospectively. These amendments had no impact on the Bank.

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36), effective January 1,
2014.

The amendment clarities the disclosure requirements in respect of tair value less costs of disposal. New
requirements came into effect with respect to information relating to the fair value of measurement of
impaired assets when the recoverable amonnt is based on fair valne less costs of disposal and information
about the discount rates used when using a present value technique. This had no impact on the Bank.

Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting — Amendments to IAS 39, effective
Jamiary 1, 2014
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative
designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria and retrospective application is required. These
amendments have no impact on the Bank as the Bank has not undertaken any hedging activities that meet
accounting rules.

IFRIC 21 Levies, effective January I, 2014
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment,
as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. Retrospective application is required for IFRIC 21. This
interpretation is not applicable to the Bank.

Anmicl Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

In the 2010-2012 annual improvements cycle, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The amendment to IFRS 13 is effective immediately. For periods beginning at 1 January
2014, it clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions that short-term receivables and pavables with no stated
interest rates can be measured at invoice amounts when the cffect of discounting is immaterial. The
Bank’s disclosures have been updated to reflect this.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
New and amended standards and interpretations ... confired

Annucl Improvements 2011-2013 Cyele

In the 2011-2013 annuval improvements cycle, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 1 Firsi-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment to IFRS 1 is effective
immediately and, thus, for periods beginning at 1 January 2014, it clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions
that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new standard that is not yet mandatory,
but permits early application, provided either standard is applied consistently throughout the periods
presented in the entity’s first [FRS financial statements. This amendment to IFRS 1 has no impact on the
Bank since the Bank is an existing 1IFRS preparer.

Standards in issue not vet effective

The following is a list of standards and interprefations issned that are not yet effective np to the date of the
issuance of the Bark's Anancial statements. The Bark intends Lo adopt these standards, il applicable when
they become effective. The impact of adoption depends on the asgets held by the Bank at the date of
adoption and it is therefore not practical to quantify the effect at this time.

- IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement ((Phase 1) (Effective
January 1, 2018)

- IFRS 11 — Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations — Amendments to IFRS 11
(Effective January 1, 2016}

- IFRS 14 — Regulatory Deferral Accounts (Effective January 1, 2016)

- IFRS 15 — Revenue from contracts with customers (Effective January 1, 2017)

- TAS 16 and TAS 38 — Clarification of Acceptable Methods for Depreciation and Amortisation
(Amendments) Effective date January 1, 2016

- IAS 16 and IAS 41 — Agriculture —Bearer Plants (Amendments) (Effective January 1, 2016)

- 1AS 19 — Defined Benefit Plans: Emplovee Contributions — Amendments to IAS 19 (Effective
July I, 2014}

- TAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments) (Effective January 1,
2016)

- 2010 — 2012 Annual Improvement cycle: seven amendments to six stundards (Effective July 1,

2014)
- 2011 — 2013 Annual Improvement cycle: four amendments to four standards (Effective July 1,
2014)
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NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

The functional and presentation currency of the Bank iz the United States dollar. Monetary assets and
liabilities in currencies other than United States dollars are translated into United States dollars at market
rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in
currencies other than United States dollars are translated into United States dollars using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

Forcign currency transactions arc initially translated into United States dollars at applicable rates of
exchange on the transaction dates. Any gains or losses arising as a result of differences in rates applied to
income and expenses and to assets and liabilities are shown as an exchange gain or loss in the
defermination of net income for the year.

Taxation

Under the provisions of Article 55 of the Charter and the provisions of the Caribbean Development Bank
Act, 1970-71 of Barbados, the Bank’s assets, property, income and its operations and transactions are
cxempt from all dircet and indirect taxation and from all custom dutics on goods imported for its official
use.

Financial instruments

In accordance with IAS 39, the Bank categorizes itg assets as follows: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, or loans and receivables. Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the
Bank assumes related contractual rights or obligations. Management determines the classification of its
financial instruments at initial recognition.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial asscts and liabilitics arc recognised on the scttlement date
which is the date the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(a)  Initial measurement of financial instruments

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of loans and receivables,
directly attributable transaction costs which are related to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and directly attributable transaction costs are expensed for the year in the statement of
comprehensive income. All other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value net of
transaction costs.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Financial instruments._.. continued
(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair
value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging
instruments.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or logs upon initial recognition are managed
and evaluated on a fair value basis and reported to management on that bagis. Once the asset has
been so classified, it cannot be changed. Financial instruments in this category are included in the
statement of financial position as “Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss”. All of the
Bank’s investments are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets through profit or loss are
inclnded in the net income for the year in the statement of comprehensive income in the period
during which they arise.

{c} Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables and prepayments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and
receivables and prepayments are subsequenily measured at amortised cost using the ettective
interest rate method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be
inunaterial.

(di  Derivative jfinancial instruments recorded at fair value through profit or loss

The Bank uses derivatives such as cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps and
forward exchange contracts in its borrowing and liability management activities. These derivatives
are for the purposes of lowering the Bank’s funding costs and to align the interest rate profiles on
its borrowingg with that of its lending activities. Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried
as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Changes in the fair
value of derivatives are reflected as “Derivative fair value adjustment” in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ... continued
Financial instruments... continued
{e}  Financial liabilities

The Bank’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, subscriptions in
advance, deferred income, maintenance of value and borrowings. The fair value option is not
applied and they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as
throngh the EIR process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation
is included as a borrowing expense in the statement of profit or loss. This category generally
applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

(f}  Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make pavments when
duc, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial gnarantees are initially recognised as a liability in the financial statements at fair value,
adjnsted for transaction costs that are directly aftribntable to the issnance of the gnarantee, on the
dale the gudaraniee was given. The [air value of a fnancial guaraniee al the time of signature is zero
because all gnarantees are agreed on arm’s length terms. Subsequently, the liability is measured at
the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
reporting date and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization.

The Bank’s existing guarantees are considered contingent liabilities for which no provision is
recognised as the existence of a present obligation is vet to be contirmed. Guarantees are disclosed
at Note 25.

(¢}  De-recognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) iz primarily de-recognised (i.e., removed from the statement of financial position)
whenn:

(i} Therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

(ii} The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in tull without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either:

(a) the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

(b) the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
assel, bul has ranslerred conirol of the assel.

30 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ... continued
Financial instruments... continued
(g}  De-recognition... continued

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset. the Bank continues to recognise the transterred asset
to the extent of the Bank’s confinuing involvement. In that case, the Bank also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the
form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be required to

repay.

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial Liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substanfially different terms, or the terms of an cxisting liability arc substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or Toss.

(hl  Impairment of financial assets

CDB assesses at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there iz objective evidence of impairment as a result
ol one or more events thal occurred aller the initial recognition of the assel (4 “loss event™) and (hal
loss event (or events) has/have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Ubjective evidence that a financial asset or
groups of financial assets is/are impaired includes obgervable data that comes to the attention of the
Bank about the following loss events including:

(1) signiticant financial ditficulty of the issuer or obligor;

{ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

(iii)  the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, a concession that the Bank would not otherwise consider;

(iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

(V) the disappearance of an active financial market for that financial asset because of financial
difticulties; or
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued

Financial instruments... confinued
(R}  Impairment of financial assels... continued

(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although
the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial asset in the group,
including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers; or

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the
portfolio.

The Bank first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assefs that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The methodology used for assessing collective impairment also takes into account the Bank’s
preferred creditor stalus treatment afforded by its borrowing members. This provision is calculaled
on a methodology which combines the external credit ratings of the borrowers, the probability of
default related to those ratings, the loss given default based on CDB’s historical loss experience (if
any) and the exposure at default. The methodology iz applied to both sovereign and non-sovereign
loans.

A provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of loans (the “incurred
loss™ basis).

The amount of the provision is the difference between the assets’ camrying value and the present
value of expected cash fows including amounts recoverable fom guaraniees and collalerdl,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

When a loan is deemed uncollectible, it is written off against the related impairment provisions. If, in
a subsequent period. the amount ot the impairment loss decreases, and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed by adjnsting the provision amonnt and the amonnt. of the reversal is recognised in the
statemnent of comprehensive incoe.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued

Financial instruments... continued

(i) Fair value measurement

The Bank measures financial instruments such as those designated at fair value through profit and
loss and derivatives at fair valuc at cach reporting date. Fair value related disclosures for financial
instruments and non-tinancial assets that are measured at fair value or those tor which only where
fair values are disclosed are denoted in Note 3, Risk Management. For financial instruments traded in
active markets, the determination of fair vahie is the price that wonld be received to sell an asset or
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that the market participants are acting in their economic best interest.

For all other financial instruments, including derivatives, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. In these techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar
financial ingtruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows, or
other valualion teclmiques, using inpuls (for example, LIBOR yield curves, Foreign Exchange (FX)
rates, volatilities and counterparty spreads) existing at the reporting date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised
financial instruments such as inierest rate and currency swaps. For these financial instruments, inputs
into models arc gencrally market-obscrvable.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair valie hierarchy, described in Note 3 — Risk Management — “Fair vahie of
financial assets and liabilities™.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximizing the usc of rclevant observable inputs
and minimising the use ot unobservable inputs.

All assets and liahilities for which fair valne is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ... continued
Financial instrnments... continued
(j) Renegotiated loans

It is not the Bank’s policy to renegotiate sovereign loans. In respect ofits non-sovereign portfolio the
Bank seeks to restructure loans in preference to taking possession of collateral. This may involve
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once terms have
been renegotiated any impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated
before the modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management
confimiously reviews renegotiated loans (if any), to ensure that all criteria are met and that future
payments are likely to occur.

(k} Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simmltaneously.

Interest income and expense

For instrmments carried at amortised cost, interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income using the elleclive imlerest rale method. Inlerest imcome and expense are
recognised as earned for items classified as fair value through profit or loss.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial Liability.

Once a financial asset or a group of financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The estimated future cash flows projected in the effective
interest rate method consider all contractual terms but do not consider future credit losses.

Commitment fees and other income

Fees and other income are recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.

Property and equipment

Except for donated land which is stated at fair value, property and equipment is stated at historical cost

less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the assets.

34 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Property and equipment... contimied

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits agsociated with the item will flow to
the Bank and the cost of the item can be reliably measured. All repairs and maintenance are charged to
operating expenses during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated as it iz deemed to have an indefinite life. Valuations are performed with sufficient
frequency to ensure that the carrving amount of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its fair
value.

Depreciation of other assets is computed on the straight-line basis at rates considered adequate to write-
off the cost of these assets over their ugeful lives as follows:

Y ears
Buildings and ancillary works 15-25
Furniture and equipment 1-8
Computers 4
Motor vchicles 4

The assets’ residual value and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
Assets that are subject fo depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of
an asget is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable
amouni. The asset’s recoverable amount i the higher of the impaired asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.

Guins or losses on disposals are delermined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and costs Lo
gell. Thesge are included in the statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred income

Deferred income comprizses frechold land donated to the Bank as a Government grant and is stated at fair
value. The grant was recorded using the income approach and will be recognised in profit and loss in line
with the uscful life of the assets scheduled for construction on the property.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the stalement of cash fows, cash and cash equivdlenis comprise bdlances with
maturitieg of three months or less from the date of acquisition which are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in value. Cash and cash equivalenis include cash, treasury bills and other eligible bills, amounts
due from other banks and short-term government securities.
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NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Commitments and contingencies

Provisions for restrctiring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. The Bank recognises
no provisions for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
gettlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation using the
rate that reflects cirrent market assessments of the time vahie of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due Lo passage ol Lime 1s recognised as inlerest expense.

Post-employment obligations

{a) Pension obligations

CDB has both a confributory defined benefit New Pension Plan (“the Plan”) and a hybrid Old
Pension Scheme (“the Scheme™) for securing pensions for eligible emplovees of the Bank. Both the
Plan and the Scheme are final salary defined benefit and are managed by independent Trustees who
are appointed by representatives from the management and staff of the Bank and operated under the
rules of respective Trust Deeds.

A defined benelil plan is a pension plan having lerms thal specily the amount of pension benefits Lo
be provided at a future date or after a certain period of time. The amount specified usually iz a
function of one or more factors such as age, vears of service, and compensation prior to retirement.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit
credit method.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of
plan assets, together with adjustments for actuvarial gains or losses and past service costs.
Independent actuaries are engaged to calculate the defined benefit obligation using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined benelit obligation is detertnined by discouniing the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related pension liability.

Current service costs, past service costs and gain or loss on scitlement and net interest expensc or

income on the net defined liability are recognised immediately in profit and loss. Net interest is
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined liability or asset.
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NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Post-emplovment obligations... continued
{a) Pension ohligations. .. contined

Remeasurements of the net defined liability (asset) comprising actuarial gaing and losses, return on
plan assets excluding amounis included in net interest on the net defined liability (asset) and any
change in the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable) excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined liability (asset), are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earmings through other comprehensive income
(**OCI”) in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subscquent periods.

(b} Other posi-retirement obligations

The Bank provides post-retirement medical benefits to its retirees. The expected costs of these
benefits are accrued over the period using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined
benefit pension plans. The present value of the post-retirement obligation iz determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows (relating to service accrued to the reporting date)
using the yiclds available on high-quality corporate bonds.

{c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is ferminated by the Rank before the normal
reliternenl dale, or whenever an employee daccepls voluntary redundancy in exchuange for these
benefits. The Bank recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the reporting date are
discounted to their present value.

Valuation of Capital Stock

The capital stock of the Bank was initially expressed in terms of United States dollars of the weight and
fineness in effect on September 1, 1969 (“the 1969 dollar™). However, with effect from April 1, 1978, the
Second Amendment to the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund came into force, as
aresult of which currencies no longer have par values in terms of gold.

Prior to December 1986, the Bank had not taken a decision on the implications of this change on the
valuation of its capital stock and had translated its capital stock into current United States dollars at the
rate of 1.206348 current United States dollars (*current dollars™) per 1969 dollar. On December 11, 1986,
the Board of Directors of the Bank agreed that, until such time as the Charter may be amended in respect
of the standard of value, the expression "United States dollars of the weight and fineness in effect on
September 1, 1969" be interpreted, pursuant to Article 59 of the Charter, to mean the "Special Drawing
Right" (SDR) introduced by the International Monetary Fund as the SDR was valued in terms of United
States dollars immediately before the introduction of the basket method of valuing the SDR on July 1,
1974, such value being 1.206348 current dollars for one SDR as at June 30, 1974 (“the 1974 SDR™).
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NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES... continued
Valuation of Capital Stock... continued

For the pirposes of the financial statements, the Bank has expressed the valie of its capital stock on the
basis of the 1974 SDR. This has no effect on the financial position or results of the operations of the
Bank.

The Charter permits the Bank to accept from a member non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing demand
notes in place of part of the member's subscription to the paid-up capital which shall be payable in the
member's currency and Maintenance of value (MOV™) in respect of such part. This is provided that such
currency is not required for the conduct of the operations of the Bank.

Maintenance of value (MOV)

In order to ensure that capital receipts dne in other than 1S dollars retain at a minimum their valne as
detertrined in accordance with Article 24 of the Charler, each member is required Lo mainiain the value of
its currency held by the Bank and consisting of or derived as repayments of principal from currencies
originally paid to the Bank by the member in respect of capital subscriptions. If in the opinion of the
Bank, the value of a Member’s currency depreciates or appreciates to a significant extent, the Bank or
Member may be required to repay an amount of currency equal to the increase or decrease in the value of
its currency which iz held by the Bank in respect of capital subscriptions. For the purposcs of cffecting
settlement, MOV obligations are established at December 31 in each vear.

The Roard of Directors has agreed that MOV obligations on any part of a member’s paid-np capital which
is represented by loans outstanding be postponed and become payable on each portion of the principal of
such loans when such portion is repaid to the Bank. MOV obligations that are not so deferred are due for
gettlement within 12 months of the date established. The regime approved by the Board with respect to
MOV payments does not allow for the making of MOV payments by the Bank where circumstances are
unfavorable to the Bank. In particular it permits the offsetting of Notes and will allow the encashment of
Notes only with the prior and specific approval of the Board.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker iz the person or group that allocates
resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. Under Article 33.4 the
Pregident iz the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) and is required to conduct, under the direction of the
Board of Directors (BOD) the current busginess of the Bank as well as the other matters set out in this

paragraph.

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Bank has one operating segment, its Ordinary Capital Resources (OCR).
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise borrowings and trade and other
pavables, the main purpose of which is to finance the DBank’s operations. The Bank also provides
enarantees to its borrowers 1nder sef terms and condifions. The Rank’s principal financial assets are
loans, trade and other receivables, cash and short-term deposits and debt securities at fair value through
profit and logs that are all derived directly from its operations. The Bank also holds derivative contracts
and enters into derivative transactions when deemed necessary by senior management.

The Bank is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk management and operational risk which
is overseen by its senior management through established committees with defined roles and
responsibilities. Market risk includes currency, interest rate and other price risks. The most important
types of risk faced by CDB arc associated with the borrowing member countries and rclate to country
credit risk and concentration risk.

The Bank’s Roard of Directors (RON) sets the governance framework for the Bank by setting the risk
[framework, approving risk appetite and the underlying policies and procedures. Financidl risk activilies
are governed by the appropriate policies and procedures and financial risks are identified, measured and
managed in accordance with the Bank’s approved policies and risk objectives

All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by senior management that have the
appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Bank’s policy that no trading in derivatives for
speculative purposes may be undertaken.

The ability to manage these risks is supported by an enterprise wide risk management. framework which
was approved by the Board of Directors in March 2013. Operationally, CDB seeks to minimise its risks
via the implementation of robust mitigating controls aimed at reducing exposure to achieve adherence to
approved Risk Appetite portfolio limits. The Bank’'s risk mitigation approaches include adopting sound
processes, systems, policies, guidelines and practices which are reviewed and modified periodically in
line with the institution’s changing circumstances.

‘The Bank has established an Office of Risk Management (ORM) to manage, coordinate, monitor and
report on the mitigation of all risks that the Bank faces including additional risks such as strategic,
financial, operational, and reputational risks. The ORM also has the responsibility for recommending and
implementing new or amended policies and procedures for effective risk management to the BOD for
approval and to ensure that risk awareness is embedded among the Bank’s employees and in the Bank’s
operations. CDB’s risk management framework is built around its governance, policies and processes.
The risk management governance structure supports the Bank’s senior management in their oversight
function in the coordination of different aspects of risk management.

The Bank’s governance is built around the following committees:
{1}  The Enterprise Risk Committee {(ERC);
(ii}  The Loans Committec;

(iii) The Audit and Post-Evaluation Committee (APEC); and
(iv) The Advisory Management Team (AMT).
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Credit risk

The major risk to CDB as a miltilateral development bank is its exposire to conntry credit. risk. This risk
relates to potential losses in the event that a borrowing member is unable or unwilling to service its
obligations to the Bank. CDR manages its counfry credit risk through it financial policies and lending
strategies, including the setting of individual couniry exposure limits and evaluation of overall
creditworthinegs. Individual BMC exposure to the Bank on outstanding loans as at December 31, 2014 ig
reported in Note 5 and Note 9.

‘The Bank manages its credit risk in liquid funds and derivative financial instruments by ensuring that all
individual investments carry a minimum credit rating of A-/A3 (by Standard & Poor’s Rating Agency and
Moody’s Investors Service respectively) for commercial bank obligations and AA-/ Aa3 for government
obligations. Additionally, CDB can invest in non-freely convertible currencies in unconditional
obligafions issned or gnaranteed by indigenons commercial banks provided that no such bank holds more
than $1 million of the investible amount of the given cuirenicy or 10% of CDB's capital, whichever is
smaller. In relation to derivative transactions, all counterparties must have a minimum rating of A/A2 at
the commencement of the transactions.

Credit risk measurement

Loans and advances
CDD’s capital adequacy methodology is used in measuring its loan portfolio credit risk and is constructed
aronnd three components:

1) the ‘probability of default’ by the counterparty on its contractual obligations;

(ii) current exposures to the borrowers from which the Bank derives the “exposure at default’;
and

(iii) the historical five vear loss ratio {the loss given default).

‘The Bank’s capital adequacy model assesses the probability of default of individual borrowers on the
basis of external ratings. For borrowers without an external rating, judgment and bench-marking against
similar credits are used to assign an appropriate internal rating. Borrowers are segmented into four rating
classes. The rating scale, shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating
class. This means that, in principle, exposures can migrate between classes as the assessment of their
probability of default changes. The rating tools are kept under review and upgraded as necessary.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Credit risk measurement... continued
Internal rafings scale and mapping of external ratings are as follows:

CDB’s Rating Description of the grade  External rating: Standard & Poor’s equivalent

1 Basic monitoring AAN AAH AN AA- A A

2 Standard monitoring BBB+, BBB. BBB-, BB+, BB, BB-, B+, B, B-
3 Special monitoring CCCtoC

4 Sub-standard D

The ratings of the major rating agency shown in the table above are mapped to the rating classes based on
the long-term average default rates for each external grade. External ratings where available, are used to
benchmark the internal credit risk assessment. Observed defaults per rating category vary year on year,
especially over an econoic cvcle.

Risk limit control and mitigation measures

The Bank manages limits and controls concentration of credit risk for which new limits were approved by
the BOD. The financial policies limit the amount of exposure in relation to a single borrower and to
gronps of borrowers. These risks are monitored on a monthly basis. Cinrently the approved exposire Timit.
Lo the single largest borrower is 40% of tolal oulstanding loans or 50% of loldl available capilal,
whichever is greater. The limit for the three largest borrowers is 60% of total outstanding loans or 90% of
total available capital whichever is greater.

2014 2013
Single largest borrower’s exposurc to total outstanding loans 23.9% 24.7%
Three largest borrowers’ exposure to total outstanding loans 48.1% 49.2%
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... confinued
Collateral

CDB does not take collateral on its sovereign loans. The L oans (CDB) Acts or other applicable legislation
are enacted in the various BMCs and authorise the governments to raise loans from CDB or guaraniee
loans by CDB to statutory authorities. It also provides for repayment of any loan made by CDB to the
Government or to any statutory corporation, to be charged upon and paid out of the consolidated fund.
CDB also derives comfort from the negative pledge condition included in its loan agreements which
prohibits, except with CDB’s written consent, the charging of’ Govermment assets to secure external
indebtedness unless CDD is equally and ratably secured. I'urthermore, CDD continues to be accorded
preferred creditor status treatment by its BMCs, who are themselves members of the Bank.

With respect to non-sovereign loans, CDB requires its commitments to be secured, the nature and extent
of which will be determined on a case-by-case basis. The securities against the non-sovereign loans
comprige sub-loans assigned to trusts (to be managed at no cost to CDB by the borrower) to which the
Bank has recourse against these sub-loans in the event of the default of the borrower. The fair value of the
pool is the future expected cash flows of the sub-loans discounted by their interest rate. Marketable assets
secure direct loans to the non-sovereign, while the fair value is the observable market price of the asset.

The fair value of the collateral held for the impaired non-sovereign loans was estimated at $5,870
(2013: $4,661). This is comprised of the fair value of sub-loans and the Bank’s portion of the estimated
realisable valne of a property.

Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a borrower as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make
payment. The Bank currently has guarantees not exceeding the equivalent of $12.0 million with respect to
bonds issued by the Government of St. Kitts and Nevis. A Policy based guarantee of $4.5 million to the
Government of Grenada is pending finalization.

Master netting arrangements

The Bank further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into master netting arrangements with
counterparties with which it may undertake a significant volume of transactions. Master netting
arrangements do not generally result in an offset of statement of financial position assets and liabilities as
transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favourable
contracts is reduced by a master netting arrangement to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all
amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis. The Bank’s overall exposure to
credit risk on derivative instruments subject to master nefting arrangements can change substantially
within a short period since it is affected by each transaction subject to the arrangement. CDDB currently
has four swaps with three counterparties.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... contimied
Impairment and provisioning policies

Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have been
incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment (the “incurred loss™ model). The
impairment provision in the statement of financial position at year-end includes an assessment of
collateral held and anticipated receipts for that asset. It also includes a collective assessment of risk based
on the external credit ratings of the borrowers, the probability of default related to those ratings, the loss
given default based on CDB’s historical loss experience (if any) and the exposure at detault. The
following table provides an analysis of the internal rating categories of the Bank’s loans and the
associated impairment provision made within:

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposure relating to assets included on the statement of financial position is as follows:

As at December 31 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $34,202 $67,723
Debt secirities at fair vahie throngh profit or loss 232,766 289,525
Sovereign loans outstanding 945,885 924,322
Non-gzovereign loans outstanding 36,786 43614
Derivative financial instrumenis 52,403 53,986
Non-negotiable demand notes 45,032 44,012
Maintenance of value on currency holdings 3,711 2,887
Subscriptions in arrears 11,234 7,386
Receivables and prepavments 7,607 10,779
1,369,626 1,444,234
Undisbursed loan balances
Sovereign 289,823 272,023
Non-govereign 17,314 17,791

81,676,763 $1,734,048

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure as at December 31, 2014 and
2013, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached.

The Bank’s assessment of credit quality and the masximum exposure relating to financial guarantees,
financial derivative instruments and cash and cash equivalents is noted in the "Liquidity risk’ section of
this note.

For assets included on the statement of financial position, the exposures set out above are based on net
carrving amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. As showr, the total maximmum
exposure derived from loans and commitments to the sovereign was 73.7% (2013: 69.0%), and to the
non-sovereign was 3.23% (2013: 3.5%).

CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014 43



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... contimied
Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills

The main investment management objectives are to maintain capital pregervation and liquidity. Subject
to these parameters, CDB seeks the highest possible return on its investments. CDB’s Investment Policy
regtricts itg investments to government and government-related debt instruments and time deposits.
Investments may also be made in unconditional obligations issued or guaranteed by commercial banks
rated A-/A3, or better, AAA rated asset-backed securities, and AAA-rated mortgage-backed securities.
Adherence to the investment policy guidelines is monitored on a monthly basis by the ERC.

The following tables present an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating
agency designation at December 31, 2014 and 2013, based on Standard & Poor’s Rating Agency ratings
or their equivalent:

2014
Ratings
AA+to BBE+to

AAA AA- A+to A- BBB- Total

Obligations guaranteed by
Governments’ $60,220 $96,093 $- $- $156,313
Time Deposils - 4,968 - 1,314 6,282
Sovereign Bonds 5,969 1,532 - - 7,501
Supranational Bonds 57,659 5,011 - - 62,670
$123,848 $107,604 $- $1,314 $232,766

2013
Ratings
AA+tO BBE+to

AAA AA- At+to A- BBB- Total

Obligations guaranteed by
Grovernmentis' $84. 876 $90,556 $- $- $175,432
Time Deposils - 4,812 1,798 - 6,610
Sovereign Bonds 10,261 25,698 = = 35,959
Supranational Bonds 66,456 5,068 - - 71,524
$161,593 $126,134 $1,798 3 $289,525

In accordance with the Bank’s internal rating scale 99.4% of debt securities, Treasury bills and other
eligible bills are classified as ‘Bagic monitoring’. The residual securities are rated as “Standard
monitoring’.

Frecly convertible currencics in Geovornment and Geveornment-guaranteed obligations which arc meombers of the G7 or EU and its agencics.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Loans and advances... continued

Loans are summarised as follows:

Neither past due nor imnpaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

Gross

Less: allowance for impairment

Net

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Sovereign  Non-govereign Sovereign Non-sovereign
$945,885 337,734 $924,322 343,179
- 5,361 - 5,201

945,885 43,095 924,322 48,380

- {(6,309) - (4,766)
$945,885 336,786 $924,322 343,614

As of December 31, 2014, loans that were neither past due nor impaired represented 99.5% (2013: 99.5%)

ot gross loans outstanding.

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaived
The credit quality of the loan portfolio that was neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by
reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

2014
Non-
Sovercign govercign Total Loans
Basic monitoring $46.013 $- $46,013
Standard monitoring 558,238 - 558,238
Special monitoring 341,634 37,734 379,368
Sub-standard - - -
$945,885 837,734 $983.619
2013
Non-
Sovereign sovereign Total Loans
Basic monitoring $23,100 3- $23,100
Standard monitoring 556,996 = 556,996
Special monitoring 315,749 43,179 358,928
Sub-standard 28,477 - 28,477
$924,322 843,179 $967,501
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Loans and advances... contimed

Ag at December 31, 2014, two loans relating to one borrower in the non-sovereign loan portfolio were
assessed as impaired (2013: two).

As at December 31, 2014 based on the collective assessment and methodology as applied to the sovereign
loan portfolio, no impairment was required {(December 2013: $850).

The Bank also maintaing a General banking reserve of $7,006 (2013: $7,006) — Refer to Note 20(h).

As at December 31, 2014, there were no financial agsets past due but not impaired (2013 — Nil).

Other financials assets

Other financial assets comprise amounts due from local institutions and staff as well as the Bank's

member countrics.

Other financial assets neither past due nor impaired

2014
Basic Standard Special Sub-

Monitoring Monitoring Momnitoring standard Total

Receivables and prepayments $- $7,607 $- $- $7,607

Derivative financial instrmments 52,403 - = - 52,403

Non-negotiable demand notes 19,396 17,854 7.782 - 43,032
Maintenance of value on currency

holdings 3,128 555 28 - 3,711

Subscriptions in arrears 4,487 6,747 - - 11,234

$79,414 $32,763 $7,810 $  $119,987

2013
Basic Standard Special Sub-

Monitoring Monitoring Momnitoring standard Total

Receivables and prepayments $- $10,779 $- 3- $10,779

Derivative financial instruments 53,986 - - - 53,986

Non-negotiable demand notes 19,360 19,140 5,512 - 44,012
Maintenance of value on currency

holdings 1,903 967 17 . 2,887

Subscriptions in arrears - 6,416 970 - 7.386

$75,249 $37,302 $6,499 $  $119,050
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Risk concentration of financial assets with exposure to credit risk

()  (Geographical sectors
The following table presents CDR’s main credit exposures at their carrying amounts, as categorised
by BMC and non-regional members, USA, and other couniries. For this table, the exposures are

allocated to regions based on the country of domicile of the counterparties. A further analysis of the
Bank’'s exposure to loans by geographical region is provided at Note 5.

2014
Borrowing Non-
Member Regional
Countries Members USA Other Total
Cash and cash equivalens $2,762  $12,142 $8,023 $11,275 $34,202
Decbt securitics at fair value through
profit or loss 1.314 59.442 79.417 92.593 232766
Sovereign loans outstanding 945,885 - - - 945,885
Non-sovereign loans ontstanding 36,786 - - - 36,786
Derivative financial instruments - 28,633 23,750 - 52,403
Maintenance of value on currency
Holdings 776 2,935 - - 3,711
Non-negotiable demand notes 36,665 8,367 - - 45,032
Subscriptions in arrears 6,747 4,487 - - 11,234
Receivables and prepayments 7,607 - - - 7,607

$1,038,542 $116,026 $111,190 $103,868 $1,369,626
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGENIENT ... confinued
Risk concentration of financial assets with exposure to credit risk ... continued

(@)  Geographical sectors... contimied

2013
Borrowing Non-
Member Regional
Comntries  Members USA Other Total
Cash and cash equivalents $8,331 $6,232  $51,980 $1,180 $67,723
Debt securities at fair value through
profit or loss 1,297 70,136 114,833 103,259 289,525
Sovereign loans outstanding 924,322 - - = 924,322
Non-sovereign loans outstanding 43,614 - - - 43,614
Derivative financial instruments 2 33,425 20,561 = 53,986
Maintenance of value on currency
Holdings 1,209 1,678 - - 2,887
Non-negotiable demand nofes 35,554 8,458 - - 44.012
Subscriptions in arrears 7.386 = = - 7.386
Receivables and prepayments 10,779 . = = 10,779

$1,032,492 $119,929 $187,374 $104,439  $1,444,234

CDB’s membership is classified into regional and non-regional members. The regional members,
with the exception of three, are members of CARICOM and are further sub-divided into borrowing
and non-borrowing members.

Non-regional members are shareholders from outside of the Caribbean region and comprise
Canada, United Kingdom, Germany, Italy and China.

(b)  Industry sector

Due to the limited scope and namre of the bank’s activities management has considered that
exposures by induslry sector is nol mearing ful.

Market risk

CDR takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or foture cash flows of a
financial instrument will Qucludate because of changes in markel prices. CDB is exposed Lo two Lypes of
market rigk - foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk
include loans, debt securities at fair value through profit or loss, borrowings and derivative financial
instruments.

The sensitivity analyses in the following scctions relate to the position as at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
In calculating these sensitivities management made the assumptions that the sensitivity of the relevant
item within profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks based on the
financial assets and liabilities at the reporting period.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Forecign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair valne or fitnre cash flows of a financial instrmment will
fluctuate becausce of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Bank manages currency rigk by ensuring that all loans by the Bank are made either from currencies
available from members® subscriptions or from currencies borrowed, and the principal amounts are
repayable to the Bank in the currencies lent. It also manages this risk by entering into currency swaps.
The tollowing table summarises the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk. Included in the table
are the financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency. As at December 31, 2014 and
2013, all loans are denominated in United States dollars.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Concentrations of foreign currency risk

2014

As at December 31 US$ Yen Other Total
Assels

Cash and cash equivalents $21,273 $- $9,929 $34,202
Debt securities at fair value through profit and loss 213,134 - 19,632 232,766
Loans outstanding 982,671 - - 982,671
Derivative financial instruments 52,403 - - 52,403
Receivable from members 43,512 - 16,465 59,977
Receivables and prepayments 5,058 - 2,549 7,607
Total financial assets $1,321,051 $- 848,575 $1,369,626
Liabilities

Accounts payable $2,190 3- $207 $2,397
Subscriptions in advance 8,750 - - 8,750
Borrowings 372,478 157,823 - 530,301
Total financial liabilities $383,418 $157,823 $207 $541,448
Net on-balance sheet financial position $937,633 $(157,823) $48,368 $828,178
Credit commitments $307.137 $- $ $307,137

2013

As at December 31 US$ Yen Other Total
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $58,166 $- $9,557 $67,723
Debt securities at fair value through profit and loss 266,143 - 23,382 289,525
Loans outstanding 967,936 = = 967,936
Derivative financial instruments 53,986 - - 53.986
Receivable from members 38,181 - 16,104 54,285
Receivables and prepayments 8,893 - 1,886 10,779
Total financial assets $1,393,305 $- $50,929 $1,444,234
Liabilities

Accounts payable $2,669 $- $98 $2,767
Subscriptions in advance 13,310 - - 13,310
Borrowings 494 569 180,808 = 675,377
Interest rate swap 6,797 - - 6,797
‘I'otal tfinancial liabilities $517,345 $180,808 $98 $698,251
Net on-balance sheet financial position $875,960 $(180,808) $50,831 $745,983
Credit commitments $289,814 $- 3 $289.814
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Rank has entered info ciurency swap agreements by which proceeds of two borrowings were
converted into US dollars in order to hedge against ongoing operational currency risks.

The following is the estimated impact on profit or loss that would have resulied as a result of
management’s estimate of reasonable possible changes in the Yen exchange rate:-

Eifect on profit or loss
(Income)/ Expense

Exchange rate movements 2014 2013
Tncrease of 3% $(7.852) $(8.611)
Decrease of 5%6% $8,067 $9,515
Increase of 10% $(14,726) $(16,438)
Decrease of 10% $17.353 $20,089

The “Other’ cwrrency category comprises various individual currencies which in total make up 3.5% of
total financial assets and 0.04% of total financial liabilities. Management does not consider these to be
material and sensitivity analysis has therefore not been applied.

Interest rate risk

Inierest rale risk arises [rom the possibility thal changes in interest rate will alfect future cash Dows on Lhe
fair value of financial instruments. CDB manages itg interest rate exposure by ensuring that the changes
in the cash flow of its assets closely match those of its liabilities. This relationship is maintained by the
use of interest rate swaps which convert its fixxed rate liabilities into floating rate liabilities.

The following table summariscs the cxposure to interest rate risks including financial instruments at
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Exposure to interest rate risk

2014
Non-interest
-3 3-12 Over 3 generating’
At December 31 months months 1-5 years years hearing ‘Lotal
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $34,202 $- 3- $- 3- $34,202
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and 1oss 37,065 26,216 139,149 30,336 . 232,766
Loans outstanding 982,671 - - - - 982,671
Derivative financial
instruments 40,719 11,684 g - - 52,403
Receivable from members - - - - 59,977 59,977
Receivables and prepayments - - - - 7.607 7.607
Tuiul Assels $1,094,657 $37,900 $139,149 $30,336 $67,584 $1,369,626
Liabilities
Accounts payable $- $- $- $- $2.397 $2.397
Subsgcriptions in advance - - - - 8,750 8,750
Borrowings 39,821 7,038 16,599 466,843 - 530,301
Total Liahilities $39.821 $7.038 $16,599 $466,843 $11,147 $541,448
Total interest sensitivity
Gap $1,054,836 $30,862 $122,550  $(436,507)
2013
Al Decemnber 31
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $67.723 - 3- $- 3- $67.723
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 20,702 42,339 189210 37,274 - 289,525
Loans outstanding 967,936 - - - - 967,936
Derivative financial 53,986 - - - - 53,986
inztruments
Receivable fom members - - - - 54,285 54,285
Receivables and prepayments - - - - 10,779 10,779
Total Assets $1,110,347 $42,339 $189,210 $37,274 $63,064 $1,444,234
Liubililies
Accounts payable 3- 3- 3- 3- 32,767 32,767
Subscriptions in advance - - - - 13,310 13310
Borrowings 159,089 7,611 16,599 492,078 5 675,377
Interest rate swap - 6,797 . - 5 6,797
Total Liabilities $159,089 $14,408 $16,599 $492,078 $16,077 $698,251
Total interest sensitivity
Gap $951,258 $27,931 $172,611  $(454,804)
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Interest rate sensitivity

If interest rates had been 50 bps higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, CDD’s net
income for the year ended December 31, 2014 (inclusive of the effects from derivative instruments),
would have decreased by $16,855 (2013: $12,795) and increased by $17,107 (2013: $12,035).

The sensilivily analyses are inclusive of the exposure Lo inlerest rales for both derivalives and non-
derivative instruments at the reporting date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 bps
increase or decrease is used and represents management’s assessment of a reasonable possible change in
interest rates.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the probability that the Bank will be unable to meet the payment obligafions
associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due. The consequence may be the failure to meet
obligations or to disburse on its commitments. This risk is managed by conformity to the Bank’s policy of
mainfaining a net three yvears™ funding requirement or 40% of undisbursed commitments, whichever is
greater.

The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality, highly-liquid securities to support
payvment obligations and contingent funding in the event of a highly stressed market environment. The
Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise:

e Cush and balances wilh commercial barks;

¢ Time deposits;

¢ Government bonds and other securities that are easily traded: and

¢ Secondary sources of liquidity including a line of credit with a commercial bank.

The Bank uses derivatives in its borrowing and liability management activities to lower its funding costs
and to align the interest rate profiles on its borrowings with that of its lending activities. The Bank has
entered into currency swap agreements with major international banks by which proceeds of a borrowing
are converted into a different currency and simultaneously a forward exchange agreement is executed
providing for the future exchange of the two currencies in order to recover the currency converted. The
Bank has also entered into intercst rate swaps, which transform a floating rate payment obligation in a
particular currency into a fixed rate payment obligation or vice-versa. Other financial expenses relate to
expenses derived from the net swap expenses.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... confined
Liquidity risk... continued
Non-derivative cash flows

The table below presents the cash flows by remaining contractual maturities at the reparting date. The
amounis disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2014
At December 31 { — 3 months 2 12 months 1 5 vears Over S vears Total
Asscts
Cash and cash equival ents $34.205 3- 3- 3- $34 205
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and Loss 30,847 28,108 151,719 12 337 243011
Loans outstanding 43,440 88,347 473,237 619,899 1,224923
Receivable from members 11,234 - - 48,743 59,977
Receivables and prepayments 5.345 723 1.400 139 7.607
Total Assets $125,071 $117,178 $626,356 $701,118 $1,569,723
Liabilities
Accounls payable 32,375 3- 33 519 32,397
Borrowings 37,120 16,795 107,667 589,139 750,721
Total Liabilities $39,495 $16,795 $107,670 $589,158 $753,118
2013
At December 31 0 - 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Qver S vears Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $67.727 3- 3- 3- $67,727
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 14,092 35,837 211,063 42,015 304,007
Loans outstanding 43310 90.292 454,836 636228 1,224 666
ER.eceivable from members - 7,386 - 46,900 54,286
Receivables and prepayments 9,037 527 1,064 151 10,779
Total Assets $134,166 $135,042 $666,963 $725,294 $1,661,465
Liahilities
Avccounls payable 31,637 31,107 323 3- $2,767
Bomrowings 10,703 167,741 97,535 628,698 904677
Total Liabilities $12,340 $168,848 $97,558 $628,698 $907,444
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Liquidity risk... continued
Derivative cash flows
The following table shows the derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a net basis into

relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are coniractual undiscounted cash flows.

2014
0-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5
At December 31 months months years years Total
Derivative asset:
Derivalive fnuncial instrumernis $3,545 $6,485 $13,715 341,401 365,146
2013
0-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5
At December 31 months months years years Total
Derivative asset:
Derivative financial instruments $3,508 $705 $6,257  $70,404 $80,874
Derivative liability
Derivalive financial instruments 3- $3,996 33,006  $(19,440) $(12,438)
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... confinued
Liquidity risk... continued
Commitments, snaranfees and confingent liabilities

Loan and capital commitments

The table below summarises the amounts of the Bank’s commitments and guarantces to which it has
committed for the extension of credit to its BMCs. Capital commitments represent obligations in respect
of ongoing capital projects. There were no capital commitments as at December 31, 2013.

2014
0-12 1-5
At December 31 months years Total
Loan commitments $105,000 $202,137 $307,137
Capital commitments 1.214 - 1,214
Guarantees 12,000 - 12,000

$118,214 $202,137  $320,351

2013
At December 31
Loan commitments $90,000 $199.814  $289.814
Guarantees $12,000 - $12,000

$102,000 $199,814 $301,814

Fair value of linancial assels and liabilities
() Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techmniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques arc obscrvable or unobscrvable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources. unobservable inputs retlect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two tvpes of
inputs have created the following fair value hicrarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This
level inchndes listed equity secnrities and debt instriments on exchanges (for example, the New York
Stock Exchange, NASDAQ).

Level 2 — Inpuis other than quoted prices included in Level 1 for which the lowest level input that is
gignificant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable. Bloomberg is the source
of input parameters like the LIBOR vield curves or counterparty credit risks.

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability tor which the lowest level input that is significant to the tair
value measurement is unobservable. This level includes equity investments and debt instruments
with significant nnobservable components.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... contintied
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities. .. contirmed
() Fair vahie hierarchy.. continied

Financial assets and labilifies measured af foir value:

2014
December 31 Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Financial assets al fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments $- $52,403 2 $52,403
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Dcbt sccuritics - 232,766 - 232,766
8- 8285169 3 $285,169
There were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 during the period.
2013
December 31 Quoted
prices in Significant Signiticant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments $- $53,986 $- $53,986
Financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Debt securities - 289,525 - 289,525
3- $343 511 $ 8343,511
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss
Derivative financial instruments $- $6.797 - $6.797
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... contined
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities ... continued

(h}  Financial instruments measuved at foiv value using avaluation technigque

The total amount of the change in fair value estimated using Level 2 valuation techniques that was
recognised in profit and loss during the vear was a gain of $7,967 (2013 a loss of $52.854).

(¢} Financial instrniments not measured at fair value

The carrying amonnts and the fair valne of those financial assets and liabilities not presented in the
stalemnent of [inancial position al their fair value are summarised below.

(i) Due from banks
Due from banks includes cash and inter-bank placements. The estimated fair value of floating
rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying value.

(1) Loans

The Bank’s loan portfolio comprises loans granted to, or guaranteed by, it’s Borrowing Member
Countries. Amounts disbursed on loans are repayable in the currency or currencies disbursed
by the Bank or in other freely convertible currencies approved by the Bank The amount
repayable in each of these currencies shall be equal to the amount disbursed in the original
curtency. Loans are granled [for @ maximuin period of twenly-lwo years, including a grace
period, which is typically the period of project implementation. Loansg are for the purpose of
financing development projects and programmes and are not intended for sale. Management
also does not believe that there iz a comparable secondary market for the type of loans made by
the Bank.

For 2014 and 2013, the estimated fair values are based on discounted cash flow models using an
estimated yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity. The loans are evaluated
based on parameters sich as interest rates, specific conntry risk factors and individnal credit
worlhiness.

(ili) Non-negotiable demand notes
These are non-negotiable, non-interest bearing demand notes with no conditions for repayment
as settlement for capital subscriptions in place of any part of the member’s currency paid or to
be paid. They are payable at their par value upon demand. Therefore the fair value is estimated
to be the carrying value.

(1v) Receivables and prepayments
Due to the short-term nature of these assets, fair value is assumed to be equal to carrying value.

(v) Accounis payable and accrued liabilities

Due to the short-term nature of these liabilities with no stated maturity, fair value is assumed to
be equal to carrying value which is the amount payable on demand.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... contined
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities ... continued

(vi) BRorrowings
The aggregate fair values are based on discounted cash flow models using a current yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term to maturity, similar terms and credit risk.

(vii) Maintenance of value
Member countries, whose currencies do not have a fixed relationship with the US dollar but for
which there have been adjustments to the exchange rate, are obliged to maintain the value of
their currencies in respect of capital contributions if such currencies depreciate. These
adjustments arc made 8o as maintain the value of the member’s subscriptions received by the
Bank and is based on the prevailing exchange rates at the end of each reporting period, therefore
reflecting fair value and can constitute a liability of the member or the Bank.

The following lable summmmarises the carrying amounts and faiv values of Anancial assels and
liabilitieg presented on the Bank’s statement of financial position which are not recorded at fair
value and for which the carrying value does not approximate fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Bank’s assets and liabilities are as follows:

Carrying value Fair value
2014 2013 2014 2013
Financial assets — loans and receivables
Loans oulstanding $982,671 $967,936 $774,007  $854,523
Financial liabilities amortised cost
Borrowings $530,301 $675,377 $577,016 $707,246

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities for which fair value
i disclosed as follows:

2014
Quoted prices in Signiflcant Significant
active markets observable unobservable
Total {Level 1} inputs (Level 2) inputs {(Level 3)
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed
Loans outstanding $982,671 8- $982,671 $-
%982 671 8- %982 671 $

There were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 during the period.
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NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities... continued

2013
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
aclive markelts observable unubservable
Total (Level 1) inputs (Level 2) inputs (Level 3)
Assets for which fair
values are disclosed
Loans cutstanding $967.936 $- $967.936 3-
$967,936 8- $967,936 8-
2014
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active markets observable unobservable
Total (T.evel 1)  inpnis (Level 2) inputs (T.evel 3)
Liabllities for which falr
values are disclosed
Borrowings $530,301 3- $530,301 $-
§530,301 $ §s530,301 $
2013
Onoted prices in Significant Significant
active markets observable inputs unobservable
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) inputs (Level 3)
Liabilities for which
fair values are
disclosed
Borrowings $675,377 $- $675,377 $-
$673.377 $- $675,377 $

Capital Management

CDR’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than “equity” on the face of the
statement of financial position, are to:

(i) Safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern; and
(i1} Maintain a strong capital base to support its development activities.

60 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 3 — RISK MANAGEMENT ... continued
Capital Management... continued

The Rank’s capital adeqnacy framework which is consistent with the gnidelines developed by the Rasel
Committee takes into account the Bank’s total equity, which is defined as paid-up capital, retained
earningg and reserves, less receivables from members, the effects of derivative adjustments and the
General Banking Reserve. The goals of the Bank’'s capital adequacy are to:

(i)  Ensure a reliable framework and methodology to determine the appropriate levels of economic
capital that the Bank should carry for prudential purposes; and

{1i) Determine from time to time the appropriate changes in the level of economic capital that the
Bank must have, bascd on changes in the risk profile of its credit exposures.

The Bank’s enhanced capital adequacy framework is supported by an income targeting policy that would
enable the Bank not only fo safegnard buf also to strengthen its level of capifalisation and to meet its
comuilments. The new policy requires the Bark (o maintain available capital (as delined in the Bark's
Board approved policy) at a minimum level of 150% of baseline economic capital.

As at December 31, 2014 the Bank’s available capital was 201.1% (2013: 191.5%) of its economic
capital.

No changes were made in the objective. policies or processes for managing capital during the vear ended
December 31, 2014.

NOTE 4 — CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

CDB makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. All estimates and assumptions required in
conformity with IFR S are best estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates
and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and cstimates could result in outcomes that require a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Accounting policies and management’s judgment for certain items that are especially critical for the
Bank’s results and financial situation due to their materiality are as follows:

Loan Impalrment provisions

The Bank reviews its loan portfolio on an annual basis, ai a minimum, to assess impairment. In
determining whether an impairment provision is required the Bank makes judgments as to whether there
is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a portfolio of loans based on current cvents. This evidence may include observable data indicating
that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers singly or in a group, or national
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets held by the Bank.
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NOTE 4 — CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS... continued
Loan impairment provisions ... continued

The Rank’s method for determining the level of impairment of loans is described in Note 2 — “Tmpairment.
of financial assets” and further explained in Note 3 — “Risk Management: Impairment and provisioning,
policies”.

Because of the nature of its borrowers and guarantors, the Bank expects that each of its OCR sovereign
and sovereign guaranteed loans will be repaid in full. The Bank has had a fully performing sovereign and
sovereign guaranteed loan portfolio since its inception in 1970.

Ifair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using
valnation fechnmiques, for example, models. All models are calibrated to ensnre that ontpits reflect actnal
data and comparalive markel prices. To the extent praciical, models use orly observable data; however,
consideration of inputs such as credit risks, liquidity risks, wvolatilities and correlations require
management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments.

Thizis detailed in Note 3 —“Risk Management: Fair valuc of financial assets and liabilitics.”
Going concern

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and is
gatisfied that it has the resources to continme in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the financial statements continue to be prepared on
the going concern basis.

Post-employment benefit obligations

The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial bagis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the
carrving amount of pension and other post-employment obligations.

The assumptions used in determining the net cost/ (income) for pensions include the discount rate, future
galary increases, mortality rates, and future pension increases. At the end of each year the Bank
detertiines the appropriale discound rale which is the interest rale thal should be used o determine the
present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In
that determination the Bank considers the interest rates of high-quality instruments that are denominated
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms
of the related pension liability.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based on current market conditions and management
assumptions and estimates.
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NOTE 5-SEGMENT ANALYSIS

The Bank is a multilateral financial institution dedicated to the development of the economies of. and
poverty reduction in, its regional member countries. In management’s opinion the Bank has one
reportable segment since CDB does not manage its operations by allocating resonrces based on a
determination of the contribution of the net income from individual borrowers.

The following table presents CDB’s outstanding loan balances inclusive of accrued interest and net of
impairment provisions as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and associated interest income by countries
which generated in excess of 10% in loan interest income for the vears ended December 31, 2014 and

2013:
Interest income Loans outstanding
Counfry 2014 2013 2014 2013
Jamaica $9,426 $9,397 $235,885 $240,028
Barbados 6,363 5.539 137,268 135,762
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 1,138 3,991 101,816 102,597
Other 20,577 20,177 507,672 489,549
840,504 $39,107 $982,671 $967,936

NOTE 6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash cquivalents comprisc the following balances:

2014 2013
Due from banks $8.732 $22.032
Time deposils 25,470 43,691

$34,202 $67,723
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NOTE 7-DEBT SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LLOSS

A summary of the Bank’s debt securities at fair value through profit or loss is as follows:

2014
UsL EUR CAD Other "l'otal
December 31
Obligations guarantced by Governments! $156,279 $1,219 $5,805 8- $163,393
Multilateral organisations 56,232 6,211 - - 62,443
Time deposits - - - 6,279 6,279
Sub-lolal 212511 7,430 5,895 6,279 232,115
Accrued interest 623 11 14 3 651
$213,134 $7,441 35,909 $6,282 $232,766
2013
UsSD EUR CAD Other Total
December 31

Obligations guarantced by Governments! $196,615 $5,653 $8,591 $- $210,859
Multilateral organisations 68,211 2,870 - - 71,081
Time deposits 501 - - 6,105 6,606
Sub-total 265327 8523 2501 6,105 288 544
Accrued interest 850 113 12 4 279
$266,177 $8,636 $8,603 $6,109 $289,525

2014 2013

Current $56,726 $47,574

Non-ciurrent. 176,040 241,951

$232,766 $289,525

Freely convertible currencies in Government and Government-guaranteed obligations which are members of the G7 or ET and i1tz agencies.
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NOTE 8 - RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2014 2013

Interfund receivable — Note 24 $4,778 $8,407
Staff loans and other receivables 1,085 1,011
VAT receivable 1,293 838
Institutional reccivables 148 172
Prepayments 303 351
$7,607 $10,779

Current $6,069 $9,636
Non-current 1,538 $1,.143
$7,607 $10,779

During the vear, no provision (20 13: nil) was required as none of the above receivables was deemed to be
impaired.
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NOTE 9 — LOANS OUTSTANDING

{a) The following tables disclose the Bank’s main credit exposures at their carrving amounts, as
categorised by DBorrowing Member Countries, regional institutions and non-sovereign as of
Tecember 31, 2014.

2014

Loans not 9% of Loans
Borrowers vet eftective Undisbursed Outstanding  outstanding
Anguilla $- $3,192 $61,735 6.3
Antigna and Barbuda - 25,391 54,327 5.6
Bahamas 4,740 19,967 6322 0.6
Barbados 11,089 80,749 136,070 13.9
Relize 12,503 61,937 71.526 7.3
British Virgin Islands - 16,776 12,116 )
Cavman Islands - - 2,531 0.3
Dominica - 6,610 20,803 2.1
Grenada - 5,180 30,006 3.1
Gmyana 3.562 8.212 29491 3.0
Jamaica 15,000 16,219 233,525 23.9
St. Kitts and Nevis - 2,431 42,335 4.3
St. Luda 13,675 10,763 79317 8.1
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 16,396 100,816 10.3
Suriname 18,570 - - -
Trinidad and Tobago - 10,000 43,323 4.4
Trks and Caicos Tslands - - 4370 0.5
Regional 6,625 - 8,246 0.8
Non-sovereign - 17,314 41,840 4.3
Sub-total 85,764 307,137 978, 699 100.0

Provision for impairment (6,309

Accrued interest and other charges - - 10,281

$83,764 $307,137 $082,671

2014

Current $93,670

Non-current. 889.001

$982,671
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NOTE 9 — LOANS OUTSTANDING... continued

2013

Loans not % of Loans
Borrowers vet effective Undisbursed Outstanding  outstanding
Anguilla $3.215 $- $63,272 6.6
Antigua and Barbuda 13,383 17,518 51,087 5.3
Bahamas - 4,281 6,306 0.7
Barbados 6,659 101,207 134,561 14.0
Belize 11,231 31,906 71,351 7.4
Rritish Virgin Tslands - 19417 11,610 1.2
Cayman Islands - - 3,271 0.3
Dominica - 8,252 21,512 29
Grenada - 5,682 28,197 2.9
Guvana 2,900 11,442 28,887 3.0
Jamaica - 24,498 237,535 24.7
St. Kitts and Nevis - 13,695 43,578 4.5
St. Lucia - 18,561 79,364 8.3
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 15,504 101,558 10.6
Trinidad and Tobago - - 19,604 2.0
Turks and Caicos Islands - 5,033 0.5
Regional 6,624 - 8,240 0.9
Non-gsovereign - 17,79 47 463 49
Sub-total 44,012 289,814 062,435 100.0

Provision for impairment - - {4,766)

Accrued interest and other charges - - 10,267

$44,012 $289,514 $967,936

2013

Current $95,002

Non-current 872,934

$967,936
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NOTE 9 — LOANS OUTSTANDING... coniinued
(c) An additional provision of $1,543 (2013: $850) was recognised during 2014 in respect of non-
sovereign loans which are now fully provided for. The accumulated provision balance was $6,309

as at December 31, 2014 (2013: $4,766).

No provision for the impairment of sovereign loans was recognised as at December 31, 2014
(2013: Nil).

Reconciliation of allowance account for impairment on loans is as follows:

2014 2013
Ralance at Jammary 1 $4,766 $7.584
Increase in specific impairment provision 1,543 -
Collective impairment provision — non- sovereign - 850
Write back of previous specific impairment provision - (3,668)
Balance at December 31 $6,309 84,766

(d) Exceptional financial assistance
There was no exceptional financial assistance provided during the vear (2013: 1).
NOTE 10 - NON-NEGOTIABLE DEMAND NOTES

The Charter permits the Bank to accept from a member non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing demand
notes in place of part of the member's subscription to the paid-up capital which shall be payable in the
member's currency and maintenance of value in regpect of such part, provided that such currency is not
required for the conduct of the operations of the Bank. A member that has issued such demand notes may,
at the request of the Bank, convert any of them into interest-bearing notes or into cash to be invested in
government securities of that member.

All of the non-negotiable demand notes are considered non-current as there is no expectation that they
will be called within the next twelve months. As at December 31, 2014 the non-negotiable demand notes
amounted to $45,032 (2013: $44,012).

NOTE 11 - MAINTENANCE OF VALUE ON CURRENCY HOLDINGS

Member countries, whose currencies do not have a fixed relationship with the US dollar but for which
there have been adjustments to the exchange rate, are obliged to maintain the value of their currencies in
respect of capital contributions if such currencies depreciate.

As at December 31, 2014, the amount of $3,711 was due by certain members (2013: $2,887) and at the
reporting date, no amounts were due by the Bank (2013: Nil).
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NOTE 12 SUBSCRIPTIONS IN ARREARS

Member countrics arc required to meet their obligations for paid-in shares over a period determined in
advance and comprises six instalments. The amount ot $11,234 (2013: $7.386) represents amounts that
are due and not yet paid by certain members.

NOTE 13 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with the Bank’s approved policy engaging in speculative activities are prohibited and all
derivative financial instruments are held to maturity but may be terminated in those instances where the
contract no longer satisfies the purpose for which is wag intended or is detrimental to the Bank's
profitability in any way.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments held at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

2014 2013
Fair values
Notional
Amount
Derivative financial asset
Cross currency interest rate swaps $163,220 $40,719 $53,986
Interest rate swaps $300,000 $11,684 $-
$52,403 £53.986
Derivative financial liability
Interest rate swaps $150,000 8- $6,797

The Bank has two dual currency interest rate swaps. These swaps were derived by changing underlying
fixed rate borrowingg in Japanese Yen to floating rate borrowings in United States dollars. The two fixed
rate Japanese Yen notes which mature in 2022 and 2030 carry an interest rate of 2.75% and 4.35%,
respectively. The principal amounts due on maturity are in Japanese Yen, while the interest payments are
in United States dollars. In August 2013, the Bank entered into an interest rate swap which transtormed a
fixed payment obligation into a floating rate obligation with a notional of $150 million. The swap matures
in 2027.

During the year, the Bank entered into an additional fixed for floating interest rate swap which became
elleclive in Seplemmber, 2014 and matures in Novermber 2027 [or a notional amount of $150 million with a
commercial bank. The two inferest rate swaps are related to the Bank’s fixed rate borrowing of $300
million which carries an interest rate of 4.375%. As a result of this new transaction this borrowing is now
fully converted into a floating rate obligation.
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NOTE 14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Under the Headquarters® Agreement with the host country, Bank owned buildings in the host country arc
intended to be used tor the purposes of the Bank.

The carrying vahies of property and equipment were as follows:

2014
Land.
Buildings
and Furniture
Projectsin  Ancillary and Motor

Progress Works  Computers  Equipment Vehicles Total
At January 1
Cost $2.290 $11.047 $8.129 $5.279 $327 $27.072
Accumulated depreciation - (5,990) (7,597) {4,190} (256) {19,033)
Closing net book value $2,290 $4,0587 3532 $1,089 N1 $3.039
Year ended December 31
Opening net book value $2,290 34,057 3532 $1,089 N $8,039
Addifions 2,092 - 158 205 z 2,455
Transfers from projects in progress (1,767) 637 830 200 - -
Change in valuation of donated land = (150) : : - {150)
Disposals — cost - - - (22) 2 (22)
Disposals - accumul ated depreciation - - - 22 - 22
Depreciation expense - (200) {734) (396) {45) (1.465)
Closing net book value $2,615 $4,254 $786 $1,198 $26 $8.879
At December 31
Cost $2,615 $11,534 $9,117 $5,762 $327  $29355
Accumulated depreciation S (7.280) {8331) {4.564) (301) __ {20.476)
Closing net book value $2,615 $4,254 $786 $1,198 $26 $8,879
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NOTE 14— PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT ... continued

2013
Land,
Buildings
and Furniture
Projectsin  Ancillary and Motor
Progress Works  Computers  Equipment Vehicles Total
At January 1
Cost $2.122 $11.112 $7.512 $4.997 $325 $26.068
Accumulated depreciation - (6,729) (6,978) {3.836) (239} {17,782)
Closing net book value 2,122 4,383 534 1,161 36 8.286
Year ended December 31
Opening net book value 2,122 4,383 534 1,161 46 8,286
Addifions 664 10 103 326 31 1,134
Transler from furnilure and equipment 18 - = (18)
Transters from projects in progress (514) - 514 - -
Change in valuation of donated land - (75) - - - (75)
Disposals - cost - - {(26) (29) (55)
Disposals - accumul ated depreciation 2 2 - 26 29 55
Depreciation expense - (261) {619) {380) {46) {1,306)
Closing net book value $2,290 $4,057 $532 $1,089 $71 $8,039
At December 31
Cost $2,200  $11,047 $8,129 $5,279 $327  $27072
Accumulated depreciation - (6,990) (7.597) (4,190 (255)  (19,033)
Closing net book value $2,290 $4,057 $532 $1,089 §71 $8,039
NOTE 15- ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
2014 2013
Accounts pavable $28 $128
Accrued liabilities 2,369 2,639
$2,397 $2,767
Current portion 28175 $2,744
Non-current portion 22 23
$2.397 $2.767
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NOTE 16 SUBSCRIPTIONS IN ADVANCE

Payment of the amount duc in respect of paid-up sharcs initially subscribed by a state or territory which is
a member of the Bank is required to be made in six instalments. The amount of $8,750 (2013: $13.310)
represents amounts paid in advance of the due dates by certain members.

NOTE 17 - DEFERRED INCOME

The amount of $650 (2013: $800) represents the fair value of freehold land donated to the Bank by the
host country, based upon an independent external valuation report dated December 4, 2014. The original
value of the land was $875.

NOTE 18- POST-EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Bank operates a defined benefit new pension plan and a hybrid old pension scheme based on the
employee pensionable remuneration and length of service.

The plans are established under Trust Deeds. Management of the plans rest in the Truslees who perform
their duties under the provisions of these Trust Deeds and they are responsible for the administration of
the plan assets and for the definition of the investment strategy. The plans aim to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return by adopting an appropriate mixt of measures to mitigate the various types
of risks to which they are exposed. These measures include a variety of policies, guidelines and practices
that together make up the plans’ risk management framework.

The plans require contributions to be made to independent investment managers under respective
management agreements and who are anthorised to exercise complete discretion over the investment and
reinvestment of the plans’ assets and the reinvestment of the proceeds of sale and the variation of
investments made.

The plans are valued by independent actuaries every three years using the projected unit cost method. The
lagt actuarial valuation was performed as at Janmary 1, 2014. These actuarial valuations determine the
funding requirements for the plans. The financial statements of the plans are andited annually by
independent external auditors. ‘The Ttustees decide on the level of contributions necessary to meet future
obligations.

With respect to the hybrid pension scheme members other than those of defined benefit pension plan or
those who have completed 33 1/3 years of pensionable service pay regilar contribntions of 5% of salaries.
The Bank meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefits and must pay contributions at least
equal to 15.4% of contributing members’ salaries and fund any deficit over a maximum period of 40
years. Under the provisions of the defined benefit pension plan the Bank meets the costs of funding the
plan and must pay contributions at least equal to those paid by members, which are fixed.
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued

In accordance with the rules of the defined benefit plan, members contribute 7% of their annual salary
and the Bank contributes such sums as are certified by the Actuary to be sufficient together with the
existing assets of the plan to provide the benefits payable and preserve the solvency of the plan. The
cinrent. confribution rate certified by the Actnary and applied by the Rank is 22.8% of the aggregate
amount of the annual salaries of eligible employees. All contributions (initially determined in Barbados
dollars) are immediately converted to United States dollars and held or invested in that currency.

During the year, the Board of Directors approved certain changes to the plan. These included:

¢ Allowing members who leave the Bank’s services and are re-employed within a stipulated period
to be eligible to re-join the plan with the earlier service to count as pensionable service subject to
certain conditions being met;

e The increase in the normal retirement age from 62 years to 67 years subject to the consent of the
Bank for those emplovees joining prior to August 1, 2014;

¢ A normal retirement age of 67 years for all members joining after August 1, 2014;

e To decrease the qualifying period for attainment of benefits from 10 years fo 5 years.

These changes were factored into the actuarial valvations.

The post-retirement medical benefit is provided through a group insurance contract which is available to
all defined benefit pension plan and hybrid pension scheme retirees (including those who took their
hybrid pension scheme enfitlement as a lump sum) provided they retired from the service of the Bank
after completing at least 10 vears’ service. It is not available to persons who leave the service of the Bank
before retirement. The Bank and the retirees share the burden of the medical premiums on a
predetermined ratio.

Key assumptions and quantitative sensitivity analyses

The cost of the delined benelit pension plan and other post-employment medical benelits and the present
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the
determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.
Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at cach reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate,
Management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies consistent with the currencies of
the post-employment benefit obligation with at least an *AA’ rating or above, as set by an infernationally
acknowledged rating agency, and extrapolated as needed along the yield curve to correspond with the
expected term of the delined benelil obligation. The underlying bonds are further reviewed [or quality.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific countries. Those
mortality tables tend to change only at intervals in response to demographic changes.
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued

Key assumptions and quantitative sensitivity analyscs... continued
Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates for the
respective countries. The key assumptions and their sensitivity analyses are discussed further below.

Risks lactors thal may impacl the Bank
The defined benefit pension plan exposes the Bank to:
e longevity risk,
* inflation risk since although pension increases are capped, the benefits to current employees are
based on final average salaries,
e inlerest rale risk due Lo the labilities being of longer duralion tan the dated securilies;
e investment rigk as in order to counter the inflation risk and improve the investment return, 61%
of the assets as at December 2014 were invested in equities.

The hybrid pension scheme exposes the Bank to the risk of anti-selection by members. The pension also
exposes the Bank to the same longevity risk, inflation risk and interest rate risk. The investment risk
inherent in the cash balance option has been managed by concenfrating on short ferm high qnality dafed
securities as all the Government and Government-guaranteed securities and two-thirds of the others had
terms of five vears or less), leaving the Bank exposed to the inflation and interest rate risks in the pension
option.

While administrative expenses are allocated to the special funds resources, the post-employvment benefit
obligations reflected are those of the OCR as the OCR has no recourse to the special funds resources with
respect to this obligation.

Post employment obligations

Net post-employment obligations

2014 2013

Defined benefit pension liability $6,773 $2,456

Hybrid pension liability 3.4086 4,304

Post-retirement medical obligations 2,677 2,872

$14,856 $9,632

Net pension costs recognised in profit or loss

2014 2013
Delined berne fil pension liability 31,077 $3,513
Hybrid pension liability (351) 414
Post-retirement medical obligation 66 420
$792 $4,347
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued

Remeasurements recognised in other

comprehensive income
2014 2013
Defined bene fit obligation 35,779 3(8,377)
Hybrid pension liability 2,184 (579)
Post-retirement medical obligation {(193) 58
87,770 $(8,898)

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:

Defined Benefit Pension Hybrid Pension
Plan Scheme
2014 2013 2014 2013
Present value of funded obligations $51,466 $44 366 $25,444 $24,630
Fair value of plan assets (44,693) (41,910} (20,038) (20,326)
Net defined benefit liability $6,773 $2,456 85,406 $4,304

The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

Pensions
Defined Benefit Hybrid Pension
Pension Plan Scheme

2014 2013 2014 2013
Current service costs $2,987 $3.165 $187 $226
Net interest on net defined benefit liability 8 348 173 188
Past service credit (1,918) - (711) -
Net pension cost $1,077 $3.513 $(351) $414
Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income
Experience losses/ (gains) $5,779 $(8,377) $2,184 $(579)
Total amount recognised in other
comprehensive income $5,779 $(8,377) $2,184 $(579)

76 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued

Mowvement in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position was as follows:

Defined Benefit Hybrid Pension
Pension Plan Scheme
2014 2013 2014 2013
Opening delined benelit Liability $2,456 $9,638 $4.304 34,666
Net pension cost 1,077 3,513 (351) 414
Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income 5,779 (8,377) 2,181 (579)
Bank contribution paid (2,539) (2,344) (731) (197)
Other - 26 - -
36,773 82,456 85,406 84,304
Mowvement in the defined bencfit obligation over the year was as follows:
Pensions
Defined Benefit Pension Hybrid Pension
Plan Scheme
2014 2013 2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $44.366 $45,888 $24,630 $27,302
Current service costs 2.987 3.165 187 226
Interest costs 2,130 1,899 111741 1,108
Members® contribntions 683 632 393 349
Past service credit (1,918) - (711) -
Remeasurements
Experience adjustments 1,739 (128) (717) 111
Actuarial losses/(gaing) from changes in
financial assumptions 3614 {4,614 851 -
Actuarial (gaing)/ losses from changes in
financial assumptions 1,498 (1,913)
Benefits paid (2,135) (2,476) (1,858) (2,553)
851,466 844,366 825,444 $24,630
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued

Mowvement in the fair value of plan asscts over the year was as follows:

Pensions
Defined Benefit Pension Hybrid Pension
Plan Scheme

2014 2013 2014 2013
Balance al January 1 341,910 $36,250 $20,326 $22,636
Interest income Rl 1,551 998 920
Return on plan assets, excluding interest {426) 3,609 {(552) {(1,223)
Bank contributions 2,539 2,314 731 197
Members® contributions 683 632 393 349
Benefits paid (2,135) (2,476) {1,858) (2,553)
$44,693 $41,910 $20,038 $20,326

The asset allocation as at December 31 for the Defined benefit pension plan is as follows:

2014 2013

Quoted in active markets
Equity securities $27.164 $24.338
27,164 $24,338

Unquoted investments

Cash and cash equivalents 1,207 3,484
Equity sccuritics - 423
Debt securities 17,363 14,645
$18,570 $18,552
Net accruals {1,041) {(980)
Total 344,693 $41,910

The asset allocation as at December 31 for the Hybrid pension scheme is as follows:

2014 2013
Unquoted investments

Government and Government guaranteed bonds $13,530 $15,295
Supranational bonds 5,866 6,388
Cash and cash equivalents 567 155
19,963 21,838

Nel accruals 7 {1,512)
$20,038 $20,326
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Principal actuarial assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes for both the defined benefit pension
plan and the hybrid pension scheme are:

Pensions
2014 2013
%o %o
Discount rate 4.50 5.00
Future salary increases 4.00 4.00
Future pension increases — Defined benefit pension plan 2.25 2.25

It was assumed that there would be no fiture pension increases far the hybrid pension scheme.

The proportion of the defined benefit pension plan preserved members opting for pension was assumed to
be 100% (2013: 85%). The proporiion of other mermbers opling for pension was assummed Lo be 100%
(2013: 50%).

Mortality rate

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience arc sct bascd on actuarial advice, based on published
statistics and experience.

The average life expectancy in vears of a pensioner retiring at age 60 for current pensioners (in years), as
at the reporting date is as follows:

2014 2013
Male 21.0 21.0
Female 2511 25.1
The average life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 (in yvears), as at the reporting date is as
follows:;
2014 2013
Male 2l Al 214
Female 254 254
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Scnsitivity analysis and liability profile
(a) Defined Benefit Pension Plan

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at December 31, 2014 is as shown

below:
Future salary
Discount rate increases Pension increases
1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a.
increase decrease increase decrease increase decrease
Tmmpact on the
defined benefit
obligation $(6,848)  $8,599 $2,190 $(1,946) $5,169 $(4,377)
Lile expeclancy of male pensioners Lile expeclancy of lemale pensioners
Increase by 1 Decrease by 1 Increase by 1 Decrease by 1
year year year year
Impact on the
defined benefit
obligation $465 $(447) $887 $(876)

The sensitivity analyses disclosed have been determined based on a method which extrapolates the
impact on the net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period.

The following payments are expected contributions to be made in the future vears out of the detined
benefit obligation:

2014 2013
Within the next 12 months (annual reporting period) $2,399 $2.100
Between | vear and 2 vears $2,471 $3,283
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Scnsitivity analysis and liability profile... continued
(a) Defined Benefit Pension Plan... continued
The defined benefit obligation is allocated among the plan members as follows:

Active members...................60%
Pensioners........coovevenenn. ... 40%

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15.5 years.

94% of the benefits for active members were vested.
22% of the defined benefit obligation for active members was conditional on future salary increases.

(b) Hybrid Pension Scheme

A quantitative scnsitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at December 31, 2014 is as shown

below:
Discount rate Future salary increases
1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% 1%
increase decrease p-a. increase p-a. decrease
Impact on
defined benefit
obligation $(2,796) $3,591 $483 $(536)
Life expectancy of male pensioners Life expectancy of female pensioners
Increase by 1 Decrease by 1 year Increase by 1 Decrease by 1
year year year
Impact on the
defined benefit
obligation $266 $(269) $297 $(297)

The sensitivity analyses disclosed have been determined based on a method which extrapolates the
impact on the net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in Key assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Scnsitivity analysis and liability profile... continued

The following payments are expected contributions to be made in the future years out of the defined
benefit obligation:

2014 2013
Within the next 12 months $729 $200
Between 1 year and 2 years $733 $180

The defined benefit obligation is allocated among the plan members as follows:

Active members......................08%
PENSiONETS oo e srrss s sssazen 300

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 13 years.
90% of the benefits for active members were vested.
11% of the defined benefit obligation for active members is conditional on future salary increases.

Post-Retirement Medical Plan

The amounts recogrised in the staternent of financial position are detertined as Olows:

Post-employment
medical obligation

2014 2013

Present value of medical obligations $2,677 $2,872

The amonnts recognised in profit or loss were as follows:

Post-employment

medical obligation
2014 2013
Current service costs $122 $104
Net Interest on medical liability 212 182
Past service {credit)/cost {268) 134
366 3420
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NOTE 18— POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Post-Retirement Medical Plan... continued
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income

Experience (gains)/losses $(193) $58
$(193) 358

Movement in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position was as follows:

Post-employment
medical obligation

2014 2013
Opening medical liability $2,872 $2,453
Net pension cost 66 420
Remeasurements recognised in other
comprchensive income (193) 58
Premiums paid by the Bank (68) (59)
$2.677 $2,872

Movement in the post-retirement medical obligation over the year was as follows:

Post-employment
medical obligation

2014 2013
Balance at Jamary 1 $2.872 $2.453
Current service costs 122 104
Net interest cost 22 182
Past service (credit)/cost (268) 134
Remeasurements
Experience adjustments (193) 58
Benefits paid (68) (59)
$2,677 $2,872
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NOTE 18 — POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... continued
Post-Retirement Medical Plan ... continued
Principal actuarial assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes are:

Post-employment
medical obligation

2014 2013

%o %o

Discount rate 7775 7.75
Medical cost increase TS 7.25

Mortality Rate

Assumptions regarding foture mortality expericnce are set based on actvarial advice, basced on published
statistics and experience.

The average life expectancy in vears of a pensioner retiring at age 60 for current pensioners (in years), as
at the reporting date is as follows:

2014 2013
Male 21.0 21.0
Female 25.1 25.1
The average lile expeclancy al age 60 [or currend mermbers age 40 (in years), as 4l the reporting date is as
follows:
2014 2013
Male 214 214
T'emale 254 254

An increase of 1 year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would increase the medical
obligation at the reporting date hy $105.

Sensitivity analysis

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at December 31, 2014 iz as shown

below:
Discount rate Medical cost increases
1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a. 1% p.a.
increase decrease increase decrease
Tmpact on medical obligation $(370) 3465 $463 $(375)
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 18— PENSIONS AND POST EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS... confinued
Post-Retirement Medical Plan... continued

The following payments are expected contributions to be made in the future years to the post-retirement
mecical obligation:

2014 2013

Within the next 12 months $69 $68

Liability profile
'I'he post-retirement medical obligation is allocated among the plan members as follows:

Activemembers.................... 54%
Pensioners......cooveeveeenevnnon.. 46%0

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 17 years.
46% of the benefits of active members were vested.

NOTE 19 - BORROWINGS

It is the Bunk's policy to limil borrowing and guaraniees chargeable o the Bank's Ordinary Capilal
Resources to 100 percent of the callable capital of its investment grade non-borrowing members plus the
paid in capital and retained earnings less receivables from members {cash reserves). As of December 31,
2014, total borrowings amounted to $530,301 (2013: $675,377).

The short term borrowing of $30 million represents the partial drawdown on a $50 million linc of credit
trom a commercial bank, and is repayable within three months.

Az of December 31, 2014, the rafio of fotal onfstanding borrowings and undrawn commitments of

$624,566 (2013: $754,697) to the borrowing limit of $1,273,629 (2013: $1,157,818) was 49.0%
(2013: 65.2%).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 19 - BORROWINGS... coniinued

(b) Currencies repayable on outstanding borrowings were as follows:

2014
Net
Outstanding interest Currency Outstanding
Currencies at December Translation expense/ Draw- swap at December
Repayable 2013 adjustment paid downs amortisation’  Repavments 2014
United States Dollars $494,024 3- 3~ 534,894 3- $(157,692) $371,226
Tapanese Yen 179,549 (20,758) z S (968) G 157,823
Sub-total 673,573 {20,758) - 34,594 {968) (157,692) 529,049
Accrued interest? 1,804 - (552) - - - 1,252
Total — December 31 $675,377 $(20,758) $(552)  $34,804 ${968) $(157,602) $530,301
2013
Net
Outstanding interest Currency Outstanding
Currencies at December Translation expense/ Draw- swap at December
Repavable 2012 adjustment paid downs amortisation Repavments 2013
United States Dollars $698.314 $- g- $- g- £(204,200) $494,024
Tapanese Yen 218,984 (38,467) - - (968) - 179,549
Sub-_total 917,298 (38,467 s - (968) (204,290) 673,573
Accrued interest” 2,948 - (1,144) - - - 1,604
Total — Decemher 31 $920,246 $(3R,467)  $(1,144) $ $(968) §(204,290) $675,377
The current and non-current portions of borrowings as at December 31 were as follows:

2014 2013

Current $35,684 $159,496

Non-current 494 617 515,881

$330,301 $675,377

YiInwinding of fair vahie hedge.
* Relates to amounts withdrawn and outstanding.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 19 - BORROWINGS... continued

On December 3, 2014 Moody’s Investors Service affirmed the Bank’s long term issuer rating at Aal and
Stable outlook.

On May 16, 2014 Standard & Poor’s affirmed its ' AA' Tong-term issner credit rating and'A-1+' short-term
credit rating and changed the outlook from Negative to Stable.

NOTE 20— EQUITY
Equity is comprised of capital, retained earnings and reserves and is detailed below:
{a) Capital stock

At the fortieth meeting of the Board of Governors in May 2010 in the Bahamas, a general capital
increase of 150% was approved. The Bank’s capital as at December 31 was as follows:

2014 2013

Authorised capital: 312,971 sharcs(2013: 312,971) sharcs
Subscribed capital: 270,292 shares (2013: 259,650) shares $1.699.323 $1,635,133
Less callable capital: 210,943 shares (2013: 202,643) shares (1,324,925) (1,274,862)
Paid-up capital: 59,349 shares (2013: 57,007) shares $374,398 $360,271
Less: Subscriptions not vet matured {74,930) {103,897)
$299 468 $256,374

Movements in the Bank’s paid-up capital during the year were as follows:

2014 2013
No. of shares No. of shares
Balance at January 1 57,007 54,330
Regional States and T'erritories
Subscribed capital 1,289 7,518
Callable capital (1,005) (5,870)
284 1,648
Non-Regional States and Territories
Subscribed capital 9353 4,677
Callable capital (7,295) (3,648)
2,058 1,029
Balance at December 31 59,349 57,007
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 20— EQUITY ... continued
(b)  Paid-in capital

Movements in subscriptions matured during the year were as follows:

2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $256,374 $218.745
Regional States and Territories
Subscriptions maturing during the year 23,861 22,454
Non-Regional States and Territories
Stbscriptions mafiring during the year 19,318 15,175
13,179 37,629
Sub Total 299,553 256,374
Less: Prepayment discounts 20(e) (85) =
Ralance at December 31 $299 468 $256,374

The determination of the par value of the Bank’s shares is disclosed in Note 2 - “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies — Valuation of capital stock™.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 20— EQUITY ... confinued
{(d) Members’ subscriptions

The Bank’s capital stock is divided info paid-in shares and callable shares. Payment for paid-in
shares subscribed by its members is made over 6 annual instalments. Of each installment, up to 50
percent is payable in non-negotiable, non-interest bearing promissory notes or other obligations
issued by the subscribing member and payable at their par value upon demand. Subscriptions that are
not yet payable are presented as subscriptions not yet matured. The Charter states that payment of the
amount subscribed to the callable capital is subject to call by the Bank to meet its obligations
incurred pursuant to Article 7, paragraph 6 taking into account paragraphs (b) and (d) of Article 13
on borrowings of funds or on guarantees, only as and when required by the Bank.

The Charter also allows for a member country to withdraw from the Bank, at which time the Bank is
required to arrange for the repurchase of the former member’s shares. There has been only one
occirrence of membership withdrawal in the Bank’s existence which occnrred in 2000, and no other
merntber has indicaled Lo the Bank thal it intends (o withdraw its membership. The stability in the
membership reflects the fact that the purpose of the Bank iz to contribute to the harmonious
economic growth and development of its BMCs individually and jointly. Moreover, there is a
gignificant financial disincentive to withdrawing membership. The repurchase price of the shares is
the value shown on the books of the Bank on the date a country ceases to be a member. However, the
former member shall remain liable for direct obligations and contingent liabilitics to the Bank for so
long as any part of the loans or guarantees contracted before the date of withdrawal are outstanding.
The Bank may partially or fully offset amounts due for shares purchased against the member’s
liabilities on loans and gnarantees dne to the Bank. Were a member to withdraw, the Rank may set
the dates in respect of payments for shares repurchased. In the instance where paying a former
member would have adverse consequences for the Bank’s financial position, the Bank can exercise
its option to defer payment until the risk had passed, and indefinitely if appropriate.

If the Bank were to terminate its operations, within six months of the termination date all liabilities
of the Bank would first be settled out of the assets of the Bank and then, if necessary, out of
members’ callable capital, before any distribution could be made to any member country, including
the withdrawing member. Management has therefore determined that members® sharces arce deemed to
be a permanent investment in the Bank and are appropriately classified as equity.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 20— EQUITY ... confinued
{(e) Prepayment discounts

At its meefing held in May, 2014 the Roard of Governors of the Bank approved a “Varafion of
conditions of subscription of shares to permit a discount for prepayment” policy. The provision of
thiz policy iz that members are entitled to a discount from the Bank for prepayment of an instalment
or part thereof (including those members which have already made prepayments) only if the
prepayment ig received more than three months prior to the date of the scheduled General Capital
Increase (GCI) pavments. The discount is computed based on a present value methodology and are
disclosed as a charge against equity. During the vear, discounts amounting to $85 were provided to
members who had made prepayments.

(D) Retained earnings and reserves

Retained earnings and reserves is comprised of*

2014 2013

Relained earmings $520,600 $477,963
Post-employment regerve (11,777) (4,007)

Other reserves 13,260 13,260

$322,083 $487,216

In accordance with Asticle 39 of the Charter, the Board of Governors shall determine at least
ammually the disposition of the net income of the Bank arising from its Ordinary Operations
(“opcrating income™). The Banks® net income is typically allocated to the Ordinary Reserves. These
reserves are available to meet possible future losses on loans and guarantees made by the Bank in its
Ordinary operations and possible future losses from currency devaluations.

(g) Allocation Irom pel income
Management has recommended for the approval of the Board of Governors acting in accordance

with Article 39 of the Bank’s Charter, an allocation of $6,000 from the net income (operating
income) of the OCR to the Special Development Fund — Unified.

(h) Other Reserves
Special reserve
In accordance with Article 18 of the Charter, commissions and gnaranfee fees received on loans
made oul of the Ordinary Capital Resources of the Bark are required Lo be sel aside in a Special

Reserve which shall be kept for meeting liabilities of the Bank. The assets of the Special Reserve are
to be held in such liquid form as the Board of Directors may decide.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 20— EQUITY ... confinued
(h) Reserves... continued
Special reserve ... continied

At the One Hundred and Nineteenth Meeting of the Board of Directors held on Tuly 21, 1988, the
Board decided that appropriations to the Special Reserve should be discontinued with effect from
Janvary 1, 1989. Pursuant thereto, no commission iz charged on loans approved after January 1,
1989, and all amounts received after that date as commission on loans approved before that date are
treated as interest and accounted for as such. During 1993, the Special Reserve was converted into
Umnited States dollars and 1s valued at $6,254.

General banking reserve

The General banking reserve has been deemed a reserve for asset impairments. During the year no
reserves (2013: $850) were transferred to retained earnings in relation to the recognition of a
collective impairment provision in respect of non-sovereign loans. As at December 31, 2014, the
amount of the general banking reserve was $7,006 (2013: §7,006).

Post-employment obligations reserve

Post-employment reserves comprise various gains/ logses ariging from the actuarial valuation where
actual performance results differ from projected results due to changes in assumptions and in
differences between actual investment returns and assumed returns from the previous year’s
calculations. These differences are classified as experience gains/ losses.

2014 2013
Cumulative experience losses $(11,777) $(4,007)
$(11,777) $(4,007)

NOTE 21 - INCOME FROM LOANS, INVESTMENTS AND CASH BALANCES
() Income from loans

Income from financial assets classified as loans and receivables was as follows:

2014 2013
Interest income $37,857 $36,074
Other fees and charges 32,647 3,033

$40,504 $39,107
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 21 - INCOME FROM LOANS, INVESTMENTS AND CASH BALLANCES

{(b) Income from investments and cash balances

Interest income earned from debt securities at fair valne throngh profit or loss was as follows:

Bonds

1S Treasuries

Time deposits

Euro commercial paper
Treasury Bills

(c) Interest expense and similar charges from financial assets and liabilities was as follows:

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
Gross inferest expense

Other fnance charges

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Interest income from derivative financial instruments

Interest expense from derivative financial instruments
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2014 2013
$2,557 $3,450
99 244
139 195
- 15
. 5
$2,795 $3,909
2014 2013
$20,107  $21,119
P77 332
(13,953) (8,251)
4,341 2,385
(9.612)  (5.866)
$10,772  $15,585




CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 22 - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses incurred by the Bank are allocated to the OCR and the SFR in accordance with a
methodology approved by the Board of Directors.

Administrative expenses allocated to the OCR were as follows:

2014 2013
Employee related 37,067 $7.251
Professional fees and consultancies 844 516
Travel 642 493
Depreciation 613 526
Other expenses 374 362
Utilities and maintenance 437 446
Training and scminars 288 330
Supplies and printing 95 85
Board of Governors and Directors 181 125
Compnter services 390 307
Cormuricalions 224 219
Bank charges 69 58
Insurance 78 31
$11,253 $10,749

Employee costs charged to the OCR were as follows:
2014 2013
Salaries and allowances $5,206 $1,886
Pension costs — hybrid scheme" (147) 165
Pension costs  defined benefit plan” 450 1,419
Medical costs 28 301
Other benefits 1,530 480
87,067 $7.,251

YI'his represents the allocation of the net pension costs to the OCR. The full pension expense for the
hybrid scheme amounted to $(351) (2013: $414), $1,077 (2013: $3,513) for the defined benefit plan and
$66 (2013: $420) tor the medical plan.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 23 - DERIVATIVE FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENT

The derivative fair value adjustment of $6.182 |2013: (847.156)] included in the statement of
comprehensive income is derived as a result of the revaluation of the derivative financial instruments
COMPTISING cTOss clrrency inferest rate swaps and interest. rate swaps .

NOTE 24— RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The movement in the net interfund receivable or payable during the year was as follows:

2014 2013
Ralance af Jammary 1 $8.407 $(553)
Advances 45,054 76,945
Allocation of administrative expenses 15,652 15,934
Repayments (64,335) (83,919)
Due to OCR December 31 84,778 $8,407

The receivable account represents net amounts due from/ (payable to) the SDF and OSF as a result of
payments by OCR on their behalf as well as the allocation of administrative expenditure in
accordance with Bank policy. Interfund balances are settled in cash on a quarterly basis.

The composition of the balances as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

2014 2013
Due from SDF $4,568 $3,363
Due from OSF 4,595 5,148
Due from Pension schemes 648 519
Due from Others 8 3
Due to SDF (5,041) -
Due to OSF = (536)
Due to Others - (90)
$4,778 $8,407

The net balance at December 31, 2014 is included in receivables and prepayments in the statement of
financial position {see Note 8).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 24 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

{(b) Key management compensation for the vear ended December 31 was as follows:

2014 2013

Salaries and allowances $2,160 $2,003
Post-employment benefits 699 316
$2,839 $2,319

(c) Interest subsidy fund

In 2008, the interest subsidy fund wag established by the Board of Directors of the Bank to subsidise
part of the inlerest payments for which certain borrowers are liable on loans from the OCR. During
the reporting period, $551 (2013: $586) was received from the OSF in interest on behalf of the
borrowers. The fund balance is included in Receivable and prepayments in the statement of financial
position.

NOTE 25- COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Commitmernts
At December 31, 2014, the Rank’s nndisbirsed loan balances amonnted to $307,137 (2013: $289,814).

Capital expenditure commitments for the 2014 financial year were $1, 214 (2013: Nil).

Guarantees
At its two hundred and forty-ninth meeting held on December 8, 2011, the Bank issued a guarantee in an
amount not exceeding the equivalent of $12 million with respect to Bonds issued by the Government of

St. Kitts and Nevis (GOSKN).

Under the terms of this guarantee payments by the Bank under the Guarantee Agreement are reimbursable
by GOSKN together with interest and other charges at a rate to be specified by the Bank. In the event that
such reimbursement has not been made within a period of 90 days after the date of such payment by the
Bank the amount shall be converted into a loan trom the Bank’s OCR.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
ORDINARY CAPITAL RESOURCES

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 26 —-SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In July, 2014 the Bank approved a Policy Based Guarantee (“PBG”) in an amount not exceeding $4.5
million with respect to Lastern Caribbean Cumrency denominated New Notes to be issued by the
Government of Grenada (GOGR). This provides for CDR’s gnarantee of schednled debt payments by
GOGR up to the limit of the guarantee on a rolling, reinstatable and non-accelerable basis and will
provide coverage for an aggregate of two debt service payments up to a maximum of the stated amount of
the guaraniee. In the event that the Bank is called upon for payment under the guarantee and is not fully
reimbursed by GOGR within 90 days after the payment date, the amount disbursed will be converted into
a loan the repayment period of which shall not exceed the maturity dates of the New Notes.

‘I'he formal execution of the guarantee was not completed as at the reporting date. This is expected to be
completed in 2015,
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Bullding a better
working world
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Tndependent Andifors’ Report
To the Board of Governors of Caribbean Development Bank

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Special Development Fund of the Carlbbean
DNevelopment Bank (the Bank) which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2014,
statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of signiticant accounting policies and other explanatory intormation. The financial statements
have been prepared using the basis of accounting described in Note 1.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Manageiment is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements using the basis of
accounting described in Note 1. and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statemnents that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibilily is Lo express an opinion on these [nancial stalernents based on our audil. We conductled our audil
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain rcasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedires selected depend on the anditors® judgement, inclnding the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal confrol relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation ot the tfinancial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies nsed and the reasonableness of accointing estimates, if any, made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial staterments.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Special Development Fund for the vear ended December 31, 2014 are
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1.

Basis of accounting

Wilhiout modifying our opinion, we draw allention o Note 1 of the [inancial stalernents which describes the basis of
accounting. The financial statements are prepared for the specific purpose of reflecting the sources and applications
of member subscriptions and contributions and other development resources and as a result, may not be suitable for
any other purpose.

F_mar-h\|we0

Chartered Accountants
Barbados
March 12, 2015
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
[Inified Other Total TInified Other Total
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents — Note 2 £12,700 $9,076 $21,776 $22,878  $2.163  $25,041
Debt securities at fair
value through profit or
loss (Schedule 1) 260,381 50,145 310,726 255396 55376 310,772
Loans outstanding
{ Schedule 2) 529,875 16,959 546,834 503,518 18,117 521,635
Receivables
Accounts receivable —
Note 8 5,041 = 5,041 1 - 1
$808,197 £76,180 $884,377 $781,793 875,656 $857,119
Receivable from
contributors
Non-negotiable demand 64,631 = 64,631 60,044 - 60,044
notes (Schedule 3)
Confribution in arrears 5,793 = 5,793 6,797 - 6,797
70,424 = 70,424 66,84 | - 66,84 |
Total assets $878.621 $76,180 $954,801 $848.634 §75.656 $924,290
Liabilities and Funds
Liabilities
Accounts payable —
Note 9 60,360 4.508 64,868 67.349 1,327 68,676
Subscriptions in
advance 1,762 = 1,762 2,643 - 2,643
Accrued chiarges on
contributions o _ - - 2 2
62,122 4,508 66,630 69,992 1,329 71,321

The accompanying schedules and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Financial Position (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013

Unified Other Total Unified Other Total
Funds — Note 4
Contributed resources (Schedule 3)
Contributions 1,149,617 41,174 1,190,791 $1,128,440 $42,434 1,170,874
Less amounts not yet made available (85,853) - (85853 (113,429) - (113,429)
Amounts made available 1,063,764 41,174 1,104,938 1,015,011 42,434 1,057,445
Allocation to technical assistance and
grant resources (4035,600) (2,266) (407,866) (349,897) (2,266) (352,163)

658,164 38,908 697,072 665.114 40,168 705,282
Accumnulated net income
(Schedule 4) 61,374 31,838 93,212 54,978 33,253 88,231
Technical assistance and grant
resources — Nole 6 96,961 926 97,887 58,550 906 59,456

$816,499 $71,672 $888,171 $778,642 $74,327 $852,969

Total liabilities and funds $878,621 876,180 $954,801 $848.634 §75.656 §924.290

The accompanying schedules and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Comprehensive Income & Accumulated Net Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Unified Other Total Tlnified Other Total

Interest and similar income
Loans $11,601  $406 $12,007 311,631 3434 $12,065
Investments and cash balances 1,512 548 2,060 534 69 603

13,113 954 14,067 12,165 503 12,668
Expenses
Administrative expenses 13,602 894 14,496 13,696 950 14,646
Charges on coniributions - 11 11 - 28 28
Foreign exchange translation (883) 429 (436) 221 {30]) 191

12,717 1,334 14,031 13,917 948 14.865
Total comprehensive income/ (loss)
for the year 3396  $(380) 316 $(1,752)  $(445)  $(2,197)
Accumulated net income
Accumulated net income — beginning of
year $54,978 $33,253 $88,231 $56,730 $36,801  $93,531
Appropriations for technical assistance - (1,035 (1,035 - (3,103) (3,103)
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the
year 396 380y 16 (1,752)  (445) (2,197)
Appropriation from OCR retained earnings 6,000 = 6,000 - - -
Accumulated net income — end of year $61,374 $31,838 $93,212 $54,078 $33,253  $88,231

The accompanying schediles and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND (UNIFIED)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Operating activities
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) $396 $(1,752)
Adjustrnents for non-cash ilerns
Unrealised (gain)/ loss on debt securities at fair value through profit or
loss (336) 1,692
Interest mcome (13,409) (13,833)
Net foreign exchange (gaing)/ losses (1,955) 564
Total cash flows used in operdating aotivities be fore changes in operdting
assets aud licbilities (15,304) (13,329)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Tncrease)/ decrease in acconnts receivable (5,040) 7.853
Decrease in accounts payable (6,989) (3,353)
Cash used in operdaing activities (27,333) (8.829)
Disbursements on loans {(49,026) (62,581)
Principal repayments to the Bank on loans 22701 22,164
Interest received 13,374 14,657
Net (increase)/ decrease in debt securities at fair value through profit or
loss (4,846) 17,296
Technical assistance disbursements {14,806) (25,664)
Net cash used in operdaing activities (59,936) (42,957)
Financing activities
(Decrease)/ increase in contributions for loans {4,995) 26,024
(Increase)/ decrease in receivables trom contributors (3.583) 3,969
(Decrease)/ increase in Subscriptions in advance {(881) 2,613
Technical assistance allocation 53,217 21,500
Allocation from OCR net income 6,000 =
Nef cavh provided Dy finaicing activifiey 49,758 54,136
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (10,178) 11,179
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of vear $22.878 11,699
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $12,700 $22,878

The accompanying schedules and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND (OTHER)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Operating activities
Total comprehensive loss for the year $(380) $(445)
Adjustrnents for noni-cash ilerns
Unrealised (gain)/ loss on debt securities at fair value through profit or
loss (122) 540
Interest ncome (833) (1,046)
Interest expense il 28
Net foreign exchange difference (670) 46
Tota cash flows used in operating activities befove changes in operding
assets and liabilities (1,994) (877)
Changes in gperaling assels and liabililies
Increase in accounts payable 3,181 142
Cash provided by’ (used in)operating activifies 1,187 (733)
Principal repayments to the Bank on loans 1,153 1,311
Tnterest received 863 1,108
Interest paid (13) 31)
Net decrease in debt securities at fair value through profit and
loss 5,329 1,918
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,519 3,601
Financing activifies:
Repayments of contributions (590) (574)
Technical assistance allocation 19 -
Appropriations of accumulated net income (1,035) (3,103)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,606) (3,677)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,913 {(76)
Cash and cash cquivalents —beginning of year 2,163 2,239
Cash and cash equivalents end of year $9,076 $2,163

The accompanying schedules and notes form an integral part of these tinancial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Summary Statement of Investments
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 1

2014 2013
Market value Market value

Debt securities at fair value through
profit or loss — Note 3

Unifled Other Total Unifled Other Total
Government and Agency
Obligations $189,683 838,130 $227.813 $195,435 344,472 $239,907
Supranationals 60,169 9,975 70,144 42,357 10,727 53,084
Time Deposits 10,112 1,886 11,998 7,500 - 7,500
Euro Commercial Paper = 2 = 9. 489 - 9,489
Sub total 259,964 49,991 309,955 254,781 55,199 309,980
Accrued interest 617 154 771 615 177 792
Tolal — December 31 $260,581 850,145 $310,726 $255,396 855,376 $310,772

Residual term to contractual maturity

2014 2013
One month to three months $86,338 843,837
Over three months to one year 93,792 76,627
From one year (o fve years 127,263 174,854
From five years to ten years 3,333 15414
Total December 31 $310,726 $310,772
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND (UNIFIED)

Summary Statement of Loans
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2014
Loans

Member countries approved % of
in which loans but not yet Total Loans
have been made effective  Undisbursed Outstallding” Qutstanding
Anguilla $425 $112 $2,603 0.5
Antigua and Barbuda - - 2,274 04
Bahamas - a0 660 0.1
Barbados - - 344 0.1
Belize 2,581 17,952 41,584 7.8
British Virgin Islands - 300 1,362 0.3
Dominica - 16,082 55,457 10.5
Grenada 10,700 12,009 74,085 14.1
Guyana 28,938 20,950 110,153 20.9
Jamaica - 26,113 112,054 213
Moantserrat - 2,500 2,320 0.4
St. Kitts and Nevis - 548 47,218 9.0
St. Lucia 6,000 35,581 10,392 7.7
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 25,492 28,472 5.4
Suriname 3,370 - = 0.0
Trinidad and Tobago 1,000 - - 0.0
Turks and Caicos Islands - - 4,620 0.9
Regional 6,375 - 3,381 0.6
Sub-total $59,380 $157,720 $526,979 100.0
Accrued interest - - 2,806

Total — December 31 $39,389 $157.729 $529.875

14 There are nu vverdue installmenls of poncipal (2013 - 1al).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND (UNIFIED)

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2013
Loans

Member countries approved % of
in which loans but not yet Total Loans
have been made effective  Undisbursed Qutstanding” Outstanding
Anguilla $425 §112 $2,874 0.6
Antigua and Barbuda - - 2,539 0.5
Baharnas - 750 - -
Barbados - - 406 0.1
Belize - 17,736 40,556 8.1
Brilish Virgin Islands - 300 1,508 0.3
Dominica - 17,665 55,150 11.0
Grenada - 13,393 70,607 14.1
(Guyana 22,100 27,878 107,218 21.4
Jamaica - 24,406 93,187 18.6
Montserrat - 2,500 2,505 0.5
St. Kitts and Nevis = 1,289 49 389 99
St. Lucia - 41,014 37,203 75
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 23,239 28,710 ST,
Trinidad and Tobago 1,000 - - -
Turks and Caicos Islands - 5,239 1.0
Regional 6,375 3,563 0.7
Sub-total $29.900 $170,282 $500,654 100.0
Accrued nterest - 2.864

Total — December 31 $29.900 $170,282 $503.518

1/ There are no overdue installments of principal (2012 - ndl).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND (OTHER)

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2

2014

Member countries % of
in which loans Total Loans
have been made Undisbursed  Outstanding Outstanding
Antigua and Barbuda 8- 8410 24
Belize - 0,700 39.8
Dominica - 1.866 11.1
Grenada - 158 0.9
Jamaica - 1,400 83
St. Kitts and Nevis - 4,771 28.3
5L Lucia - 444 2.6
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 1,105 6.6

$- $16,860 100.0
Sub-total
Accrued interest 99
‘L'otal $- $16.959

1/ There were no overdue insallments of principal (2013 - nil).
2013

Member countries % of
in which loans Total Loans
have been made Undisbursed  Outstanding"’ Outstanding
Antigua and Barbuda $- $438 2.4
Belize - 7,180 39.9
Dominica - 1,934 10.7
Grenada - 166 0.9
Jamaica - 1,551 8.6
St. Kitts and Nevis - 5,079 28.2
St. Lucia 437 488 27
St. Vincent and the Grenadines - 1,176 6.6
Sub-total $437 $18.012 100.0
Accrued interest - 105
Total $437 $18,117

1/ There were no overdue installments of principal (2012 — nal).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2014
Loans
approved % of
Analysis by but not yet total loans
Contributor effective Undishursed ()utstandingl’ outstanding
Special Development Fund (Unified)
Members/Contributors $59,389 $157,729 $526,979 100.0
Accrued interest = = 2,806
Total Special Development Fund (Unified) $59,389 $157,729 $£529,875
Special Development Fund {Other)
Membhers - - 115 0.7
Colombia
Germany - - 121 0.7
Mexico - = 1,860 11.0
Venezuela - - 14,733 87.4
- - 16,820
Other contributors
Sweden - - 31 0.2
31 100.0
Sub-total - - $16,860
Accrued interest - - 99
Total — Speclal Development Fund (QOther) $ 5 $16,959
Tolal Special Developinent Fund $59,389 $157,729 $546,834

1fThere were no overdue installments of principal (2013- nil).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2

2013
Loans
approved % of

Analysis by but not yet total loans
Contributor effective Undishursed Dutstandingl’ outstanding
Special Development Fund (Unified)
Members/Contributors $29,900 $170,282 $500,654 100.0
Accrued interest = - 2,861
Total Special Development Fund (Unified) $29,900 $170,282 $503,518
Special Development Fund (Other)
Members
Colombia - - 132 0.7
Germany - - 122 0.7
Mexico - - 1,990 11.0
Venezuela - 437 15,736 87.4

- 437 17,980 09.8
Other contributors
Sweden - - 32 0.2

- - 32 0.2
Sub-total - $437 $18,012 100.0
Accrued interest - - 105
Tolal — Special Development Fund (Qther) 3 $437 318,117
Tolal Special Developinent Fund $29,.900 $170.719 $521,635

1/There were no overdue installments of principal (ZU12- ml).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2014
Loans Loans
out Net out
Currencies standing interest  Disburse- Sub- Repay-  standing
Receivable 2013 earned ments total ments 2014
(a) Special Development Fund (Unified)
United States dollars $500,654 $- $40,026  $549,680 $(22,701) $526,979
Accrued interest 2,864 32 - 2,896 - 2,806
Total — December 31 $303,518 $32 $40.026  $532.576 $(22,701) $529.875
(b) Special Development Fund (Other)
Tnited States dollars 18.012 $- $- $18.012 $(1,152) $16,860
Accrued interest! 105 (6) - 99 - 99
‘l'otal $18.117 $(6) 5 $18,111 $(1.152) $16,959
Maturity structure of loans outstanding
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 $30,255
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 28,139
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 20,348
January 1, 2018 Lo Decernber 31, 2018 29,339
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 29,318
January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024 144,961
January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2029 127,133
January 1, 2030 to December 31, 2034 86,045
January 1, 2035 to December 31, 2039 36,198
Jamary 1, 2040 to December 31, 2044 6,098
Total $546.834

1/Felates to amounts disbur sed and outstending,
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2013

Loans Loans
out Net out
Currencies standing interest  Dishurse- Sub- Repay-  standing
Receivable 2012 earned ments total ments 2013

(c¢) Special Development Fund (Unified)
United States dollars £460,237 8- $62,581 $522.818 $(22,164) $500,654
Accrued interest! 3,281 (417) g 2,864 £ 2,864
Total $463,518 $(417) $62,581 $525,682 $(22,164) $303,518

(d) Special Development I'und (Other)

United States dollars 19,323 - - 19,323 (1,311) 18,012
Accrued interest! 126 (21) - 105 - 105
Total $19,449 $21) 5 $19,428 $(1,311) $18,117

Maturity structurc of loans outstanding

January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2011 $26,783
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 26,759
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 27,698
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 28,850
January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2022 140,822
January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2027 122,485
January 1, 2028 to December 31, 2032 94,242
January 1, 2033 to December 31, 2037 42,201
Junuary 1, 2038 Lo Decernber 31, 2042 11,705
Total $521,635

1R elales Lo amuounls disbiarsed and vulstanding,
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2014
Rececivable
from
Approved members
but not Amounts non-
Total vet Total not vet Amounts negotiable
approved effective contribution made made demand
Contributors 3 il agreed available  available notes
Special Development. Fund
(Unified)
Members
Trinidad and Tobago $15,935 $10,551 $35,381 $- $35,331 $7.781
Bahamas 25,685 - 25,685 2,938 22,747 11,764
Rarbados 25,681 - 25 681 2,938 22,743 2832
Jamaica 43,755 - 43,755 5,275 38,480 11,595
Guyana 25,686 5.876 19.810 - 19.810 -
Antigua and Barbuda 2,880 632 2,257 - 2,257 777
Belize 6,575 - 0,575 721 5,854 2,029
Dominica 6,315 - 6315 721 5,504 2.549
St. Kitts and Nevis 0,575 1,441 5134 - 5,134 2,494
St. Lucia 6,575 - 6,575 721 5.854 2,390
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 6,588 - 6,588 721 5,867 2,304
Grenada 3,977 - 3,977 304 3,673 2,687
Montserrat 2,677 632 2,045 - 2,045 -
Brilish Virgin Islands 2,677 - 2,677 316 2,361 -
Turks and Caicos Islands 2,677 1,237 1,440 - 1,440 -
Cayman Islands 2,577 1,237 1,340 - 1,340 -
Anguilla 2,677 632 2,045 - 2,045 946
Colombia 30,657 - 30,657 1,762 28,805 -
Venezuela 25,5006 3,524 21,982 - 21,982 -
Canada 320324 - 329.324 33,217 296,107 -
United Kingdom 260,352 - 260,352 23,659 236,693 10,910
Germany 98,197 - 98,197 7.980 90,217 2,490
Ttaly 65,882 3,241 62,638 - 62,638 -
China 48,298 - 48,298 3,500 44,798 -
Haiti 2,505 045 1,560 - 1,560 -
Suriname 2,160 - 2,160 1,080 1,080 1,080
Mexico 20,524 6,524 14,000 - 14,000 -
1,102,926 36,475 1,066,451 85,853 080,598 64,631
Other contributors
France 58,254 - 58,254 - 58,254 -
Chile 10 - 10 - 10 -
Netherlands 24,002 - 24,902 - 24,002 -
1,186,092 30,475 1,149,617 85,833 1,003,764 64,031
Technical assistance allocation (405,600) - (405 600) - (405,600) -
$780,492 $36.475 $744,017 $85.853 $658.164 $64,631
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2014
Receivable
from
members
Approved Amounts non-
Total but not yet Total not yet Amounts negotiable
approved elfeclive contribulion made made dermand
Contributors v 2 agreed available available notes
Sub-total b/twd $780,492 $36,475 $744,017 $85,853 $6358164 564,631
Special Development Fund
— Other
Members
Colombia 5,000 5,000 5,000
Mexico ¥ 13,067 - 13,067 - 13,067 -
Venernela 17.473 = 17473 = 17473 =
35,540 - 35,540 - 35,540 -
Other contributors
Sweden 3,368 - 3,368 - 3,368 -
3,368 - 3,368 - 3,368 -
Sub-total 38,908 = 38,908 = 38,908 =
Total SDF $819.400 $36,475 $782,925 $85,853  $697,072 864,631
Summary
Members $732,866 $36,475 $696,391 $85,853  $610,538 $64,631
Other contributors 86,534 - 86,534 - 86,534 -
$819,400 $36,478 $782,925 $85,853  $697,072 $64,631
1/ et of repayments

24C ontributions not yet firmly pledged by G overnments
3 Wet of appropriatinn for Teehrinal Assistance nf$3 2646 0100
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2013
Receivable
from
Approved members
but not Amounts non-
Total vet Total not vet Amounts negotiable
approved effective contribution made made demand
Contributors v o agreed available available notes
Special Development Fund
(Unified)
Members
Trinidad and Tobago $45,035 $10,551 $35.384 - $35,3%4 $9,057
Batiarrias 25,685 5,876 19,809 - 19,809 8,826
Barbados 25,681 - 25,681 4,407 21,274 2,832
Jamaica 43,755 10,551 33204 - 33,204 7,638
Guyana 25,686 5,876 19,810 - 19,810 -
Antigua and Barbuda 2,880 632 2,257 - 257 777
Belize 6,573 - 6,575 1,081 5,494 2,166
Dominica 6,315 1441 4. 874 - 4. 874 2327
St. Kitts and Nevis 6,575 1441 5,134 - 5,134 2,494
St. Lucia 6,575 - 6,575 1,081 5,494 2,167
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 6,588 - 6,588 1,081 5,507 2,579
Grenada 3,977 032 3,345 - 3,345 2,712
Montserrat 2,677 632 2.045 - 2,045 -
British Virgin Islands 2,677 032 2,045 - 2,045 -
Turks and Caicos Islands 2,677 1.237 1,440 - 1,440 -
Cayman Islands 2,577 1,237 1,340 - 1,340 -
Anguilla 2,677 632 2,045 - 2,45 1,051
Colombia 28,014 - 28,014 - 28,014 -
Venezuela 25,506 3,524 21,982 - 21,982 -
Canada 330,489 - 330,489 49,826 280,663 -
United Kingdom 258,657 - 258,657 33,123 225,534 14,878
Germany 98,574 - 98,574 15,960 82,6014 -
Ttaly 66,633 3,244 63,380 - 63,380 -
China 48,298 - 48,298 5,250 43,048 -
Haiti 2,505 945 1,560 - 1,560 -
Surinamc 2,160 - 2,160 1,620 540 540
Mexico 20,524 6,524 14,000 - 14,000 -
1,100,881 55,607 1,045,274 113,429 031,845 60,044
Other contributors
Trance 58,254 - 58,254 - 58,254 -
Chile 10 - 10 - 10 -
Netherlands 21,902 - 21,902 - 21,902 -
1,184,047 55,607 1,128,440 113,429 1,015,011 60,044
Technical assistance allocation (349,897) - (349.897) - (349,897 -
Sub-total c/fiwd $834,150 $55.607 $778,543  §113429 $665,114 560,044
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2013
Receivable
from
members
Approved Amounts non-
Total but not yet Total not yet Amounts negotiable
approved elfeclive contribulion made made dermand
Contributors v 2 agreed available available notes
Sub-total b/twd $834,150 $55,607 $778,343  §$113,429 $665,114 560,044
Special Development Fund
— Other
Members
Colombia 5,000 5,000 5,000
Mexico ¥ 13,067 - 13,067 - 13,067 -
Venernela 17474 = 17.474 = 17474 -
35,541 - 35,541 - 35,541 -
Other contributors
Sweden 4,037 - 4,037 - 4,037 -
United States of America¥ 500 = 500 = 500 =
4,627 - 4,627 - 4.627 -
Sub-total 40,168 5 40,168 = 40,168 =
Total SDF $874,318 $55,607 $818,711  $113,429  $705.282 $60,044
Summary
Members $786,524 $55,607 $730,917 $113,429  $617.488 $60,044
Other contributors 87.794 - 87.79%4 - 87.794 -
$874,318 $55,607 $818,711  $113,429 705,282 $60,044
1/ et of repayments

W andribnatinns nnt yet firmly pledged by G nvernments

3f Met of appropriation for Technical Assistance of $2,266,000

A0 ontribution with fived repayment dates
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2014
Draw-
downs/
appro-
Amounts Trans- priations Amounts
rade lalion [rom rade
available adjust- capital Sub- Repay- available
Currencies 2013  ment H total  ments 2014
(a) Special
Development
Fund
(Unilied)
Euros $6.370 $4.230  $(2.490) $8.110 $- $8.110
Pounds 14,878 (851) (3,117) 10,910 - 10,910
sterling
TUnited States
dollars 643,866  (5,334) 612 639,144 - 639,144
$665,114  $(1,955) $(4,995) $658,164 S-  $658,164
(b) Special
Development
Fund (Other)
Swedish $4,038 $(670) $- $3,368 $- $3,368
kroners
United States
dollars 36,130 - - 36,130 {(590) 35.540
$40,168 $(670) $- $39,498 $(590)  $38,908

1/ et of conrersations to United Stedes dollars in accordance with the funding R es of the Unified Special Development Fund.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Contributed Resources (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2013
Draw-
downs/
appro-
Amounts Trans-  priations Amounts
made lation from made
available adjust- capital Sub- Repay- available
Currencies 2012 menl v Lotal menls 2013
(c) Special Development Fund
(Unified)
Euros $5,407 $230 $724 $6,370 $- $6,370
Pounds sterling 14,287 325 266 14,878 - 14,878
United States dollars 618,832 - 25,034 643,866 - 643,866
$638.526 $564  $26,024 $665,114 8- $665,114
(d) Special Development Fimd
(Other)
Swedish kroners $3,992 $46 $- $4,038 $- $4,038
United States dollars 36,704 - - 36,704 (574) 36,130
$40,696 $46 8- 840,742 $(574) $40,168

1M et nf nonverainn tn the TTnited States dllarsin accnrdance with the finding ral es of the TTnified Special Tiewel npment Find

Maturity structure of repayable contributions outstanding *

January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 8500
Total $590

# Relates to 2DF () contributions by the Urgted States of America
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Accumulated Net Income
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 4

2014
Brought Net  Allocation/ Carried
forward income (Appro- forward
Contributors 2013 2014 priations) 2014
Special Development Fund ( Unified) $54,978 $396 $6,000 561,374
Speclal Development Fund (Other)
Members
Colombia 2,223 (98) - 2,125
Germany (983) (105) - (1,088)
Mexico 7,210 2 - 7,212
Venezuela 10,879 74 (1,035) 9918
19,320 {127) (1,035) 18,167
Other contributors
Sweden 2,814 (361) - 2453
United Stales of Arnerica 11,110 108 - 11,218
13,924 (253) - 13,671
33,253 (380) (1,035) 31,838
Total Special Development Fund $88,231 $16 $4,965 $03,212
Summary
Members $74,307 $269 84,965 £79.541
Other contributors 13,924 {253) - 13,671
Total SDF $88,231 $16 $4,965 $93,212
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Accumulated Net Income (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 4
2013
Brought Net  Allocation/ Carried
forward income (Appro- forward
Contributors 2012 2013 priations) 2013
Special Development Fund ( Unified) $36,730 $(1,752) $- $54,978
Special Development Fund (Other)
Members
Colombia 2,304 (81) - 2,223
Germany {(881) (99) - (983)
Mexico 7,232 (22) - 7,210
Venezuela 14,134 (152) (3,103) 10,879
22,786 (354 (3,103) 19,329
Other contributors
Sweden 2,816 (2) - 2,814
United States of America 11,199 (89) - 11,110
14,015 (91) - 13,924
36,801 (445) (3,103) 33,253
Total Special Development Fund $93,531 $(2,197) £(3,103) £88,231
Summary
Members $79,516 $(2,106) £(3,103) £74.307
Other contributors 14,015 (91) - 13,924
Total SDF $93,531 $(2,197) $(3,103) $88,231
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Naturc of opecrations and summary of significant accounting policics
Nature of operations

The Special Development Fund (SDF) was established to carry out the special operations of the
Caribbean Development Bank (the Bank) by providing resources on concessional terms to assist
borrowing members primarily for poverty reduction. Resources are provided by contributions from
members and other contributors.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Due to the nature of the SDI", these financial statements have been prepared for the specific purpose
of reflecting the sources and applications of member subscriptions and contributions and other
development resources. These financial statements are not intended to be presented in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies oullined below.

Preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reported period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and preseniation currency

The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (US$) and the Fund’s
financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand. Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies
other than United States dollars are translated at market rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting
date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in currencies other than United States dollars
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into United States dollars at applicable rates of
exchange on the transaction dates. Any gains or losses arising as a result of differences in rates
applied to income and expenses and to assets and liabilities are shown as an exchange gain or loss in
the stalernent of total comprehensive income for the year.

Debt securlties at falr value through proflt or loss
All debt securities are in a portfolio designated at fair value through the profit or loss and reported at
fair market value. Securities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Fund

assumes related contractual rights and de-recognised when the rights to secure cash flows from the
financial asset expire or when all risks and rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Summary of significant accounting policics... continued
Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss... continued

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date which is the
date the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All securities are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement
of comprehensive income and accumulated net income. Gains and losses arising from changes in the
fair value of debt securities through profit or loss are included in the profit for the year in the
statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income in the period in which they arise.
Interest income earned whilst holding securities is reported as “Interest and similar income -
investments and cash balances” in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net
income.

Determination of fair value

For securities traded in active markets, the determination of fair values is based on quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations. A security is regarded as quoted in an active market if prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring, market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive.

For secnrities in inactive markets fair vahies are defermined nsing valnation techniques. Tn these
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments,
using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows, or other wvaluation
techniques, using inputs (for example, LIBOR vield curves, FX rates, volatilities and counterparty
spreads) existing at the reporting date.

The Fund uses widely recognizsed valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised
financial instruments. For these securities, inputs into models are generally market-observable.

T.oans

Loang and receivables are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments
that are nol quoled i an active mmarkel. Afller imilial measurerneni, loans and receivables dare
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method net of impairments if
any.

All loans by the Fund are made either from currencies available from members’ subscriptions or from
currencies borrowed and the principal amounts are repayable to the Fund in the currencies lent. The
balances outstanding on loans to members and their agencies are secured by guarantees of the
Governments of the member countries in which the loans are made.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Summary of significant accounting policics... continued
Loans... continued

The Fund is one of very few lenders of development and structural adjustment loans to Caribbean
countries. There ig no secondary market for development loans nor does the Fund intend to sell these
loans and as a result, the use of market data to arrive at the fair value of loans will not yield any
meaningful results.

The Fund does not make provisions for impairment on loans as any loss that may occur is taken in the
statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income for that vear.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
malurities of three months or less fom the dale of acquisition.

Technical assistance and grants

Technical assistance and grants for capital projects to borrowing member countries are provided
cither from grants received from contributors or from other resources specifically allocated for this
purpose. The contributions from donors are included in the financial statements from the date of the
contribution agreement. Technical assistance is recognised when the project is approved and becomes
effective.

Interest income and charges on contributions

For instruments carried at amortized cost, interest income and expense are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income and accummlated net income using the effective interest rate method.
Interest income and expense are recognised as earned for items classified as fair value through profit
or loss.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial Liability.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses incurred by the Bank which cannot be directly charged to individual funds

are allocated between the Ordinary Capital Resources (“OCR), the Other Special Funds (“*OSF”) and
the SDF in accordance with a method of allocation approved by the Board of Directors.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2. Cash and cash cquivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

SDF Unified SDF Other
2014 2013 2014 2013

Due to banks $(10,811)  $7,570  $5,075 $281

Time deposits 23,511 15,308 4,001 1,882

$12,700 $22.878  $9,076 $2,163

3. Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss

As part of its overall portfolioc management strategy, the Bank invests in Government, agency,
supranational and bank obligations, including time deposits and euro commercial paper. The Bank
limits its activities of investing in securities to well established dealers and counterparties meeting
minimum credit rating standards set by the Bank.

The anmalised rate of return on the average investments held during the year, including realised and
urealised gains and losses was 0.66% (2013: 0.18%). Net realised gains on investments traded
during 2014 for the Unified and Other funds amounted to $40 (2013: $22) and net unrealized losses
were $213 (2013: $2,232).

4. Funds

In accordance with the Agreement establishing the Bank (the Charter), Special Funds Resources
comprizc the Special Development Fund and Other Special Funds established or administered by the
Bank, including techmical assistance and other grant resources contributed on a non-reimbursable
basis. The Special Development Fund was established to receive contributions or loans which may be
nsed to make or gnarantee loans of high developmental priority, comprising longer mafurities, longer
deferred commencement of repayment and lower inferest rates than those determined by the Bank in
its Ordinary Operations. As a result of Rules adopted by the Bank in May 1983 for the Special
Development Fund, contributions to the Special Development Fund currenily comprise funds made
available to the Bank under the rules applicable to the old Special Development Fund (referred to
herein as “Other”) and shown separately from funds made available to the Bank from the Unified
SDF (referred to herein as “Unified”).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

4. Funds... contimed

Details of contributions and loan resources to the Special Development 'und are stated at the
equuivalent in thonsands of United States dollars where siuch contributions and loans have been made
in currencies other than United States dollars, and are as follows:

{i) Spedal Development Fund — Unified
2014 2013

Corntributions (as per Schedule 3) $658,164 $665,114

All contributions to the Special Development Fund - Unified are interest-free with no date for
repayment.

Lifective October 27, 2000, I'rance ceased to be a member of the Bank, however under the Rules
of the Special Development Fund, its contribntions are non-reimbirsable.

(i1} Special Development Fund Other
2014 2013

Colombia $5,000 $5,000

The contribution is interest-free and was not repavable before 2000. The agreement with the
contributor provides that not less than 5% or more than 10% of the confribution may be used for
technical assistance. To date $39 (2013: $39) has been incurred on technical assistance and has
been charged against the income from the contribution.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

4. Funds... continued

(i1} Special Development IFund — Other ... continued

2014 2013

Mexico
First contribution $7.000 $7,000
Less technical assistance (2,266) (2,2606)
4,734 4,734
Second contribution 5,000 5,000
Third contribution 3333 3,333
$13,067 $13,067
Technical assistance resources $2,285 $2,266

The contributions are interest-free and were not subject to call before 2009.

2014 2013

Venezuela
First contribution $10,000 $10,000
Less technical assistance (177) (177)
9,823 9.823
Second contribution 7,650 7,650
$17.473 517,473

The contributions are interest-free and were not subject to calls before 1999 and 2006,
respectively. The agreement with the contributor provides that up to 10% of the first contribution
may be used to finance technical assistance on the basiz of contingent recovery.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

4. Funds... continued

(i1} Special Development Fund — Other ... continued

2014 2013
Sweden $3,368 $4,037
The contribution is interest-free with no definite date for repayment.
2014 2013
United States of America
First contribution $10,000 $10,000
Less repayments {(10,000) {10,000
Sccond contribution 12,000 12,000
T.ess repayments (12,000} (11,410)
8- $590
Techrical Assistance $302 $302

‘The contributions are subject to interest at the rate of 2% per anmun on the amounts outstanding for
the first ten vears after first disbursement and thereafter at the rate of 3% per annum. The second
contribution is repayable over the period 1984 to 2014.

5. Accnmulated nef income and total comprehensive income for the year
In accordance with the rules of the Special Development Fund, the accumulated net income and total

comprehensive income for the current year form part of the contributed resources of the fund and are
not available for allocation by the Board of Governors.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

6. Technical assistance and grant resources — Unified and Other

In accordance with paragraph 4.9.2 of the Rules for the Special Development I'und,
allocafions/appropriations of income and capital of the Fund may be made for the pirpose of
the Bank's technical assistance and grant operations. The movements during the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

Balance at December 31, 2012 $63,620
Allocations for the year 21,500
Expenditure for the year (25,664)
Balance at December 31, 2013 $59,456
Allocations for the year 53,236
Expenditure for the year (14,805)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $97,887

7. Louns oulstanding — Unilied and Other

The average interest rate earned on loans outstanding was 2.34% (2013: 2.44 %). There were
no impaired loans at or during the financial years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

8. Accounts receivable — Unified and Other

2014 2013
Inter-fund receivable $5,041 $1

9. Accounts payable - Unified and Other
2014 2013
Accounts payable - general $60,360 865,360
Interfund pavables 4,508 3,316
864,868 $68.676
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Bullding a better
working world

al Malduo, \.'

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Board of Governors of Caribbean Developiment Bank

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Other Special Funds of thc Caribbean
Development Bank (the Bank) which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2014,
statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. These financial
statements have heen prepared nsing the basis of acconnting described in Note 1.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of thege financial statements using the basis of
accounting described in Note 1, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to frand or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors® judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the audilor considers inlermal control relevant o the enlity's preparation and fair presentation of the [inancial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
cxpressing an opinion on the cffectivencss of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes cvaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates, made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We helieve that the andit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for onr andit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of the Other Special Funds for the year ended December 31, 2014 are
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of acconnting described in Note 1.

Basis of accounting

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements which describes the basis of
accounting. The financial statements are prepared for the specific purpose of reflecting the sources and applications
of member subscriptions and contributions and other development resonrces and as a resnlt, may not be snitahle for
any other purpose.

E_rhi‘(‘%\lmﬂ—\)

Chartered Accountants
Barbados
March 12, 2015
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents — Note 2 $31,013 $17.491
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 71,713 70,775
(Schedule 1)
Loans outstanding (Schedule 2) 116,449 115,454
Accounts receivable —Note 7 60,361 65,455
Total assets $279,536 $273,215
Liabilities and Funds
Liabilities
Accounts payable — Note 8 $7,30 $6,575
Accrued charges on contributions repayable 234 249
7,535 6.824
Funds
Contributed resources - (Schedule 3) 70,229 72,923
Amounts made available 70,229 72,923
Accumulated net income (Schedule 4) 55,163 52,323
125,392 125,246
Technical assistance and other grant resources 146,609 141,145
{Schedule 5)
Total liabilities and funds $279,536 $273,215

The accompanying schedules and notes and schedules form an integral part of these financial statements.

134 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Net Income
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013
Interest and similar income
T.oans $2,563 $2.682
Investments and cash balances 1,880 623
4,443 3,305
Expenses
Administrative expenses 1,189 1,329
Charges on contributions repayable 931 1,039
Foreign exchange translation &17) 21
Total expenses 1,603 2,389
Total comprehensive income for the year $2,840 $916
Accumulated net income
Accumulated net income— beginning of year $52,323 351,407
Total comprehensive income for the vear 2,840 916
Accumulated net income— end of year $35,163 $52,323

The accompanying scheditles and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

2014 2013

Operating activities
Total comprehensive income for the year $2,840 $916
Adjustments for non-cash items

Net unrealised loss on investments 27 963

Interest income 3,932) (3,099)

Interest expense 931 1.039

Net foreign exchange gains (573) (35)
Total cash flow used in operafing activities before

changes in eperating assets and labilities (707) (216)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease in accounts receivable 5,094 4,757

Increase/ (decrease) inL accounls payable 726 (503)
Casit provided by operaiing activities 5,113 4,038
Disbirsements on loans 3,474 (89)
Principal repayment Lo the Bank on loans 5,369 4,643
Technical assistance disburzements (12,629) (19,049)
Inierest received 3,980 3,379
Interest paid (946) (1,001)
Net (increase)/ decrease in investments (989 4,187
Net cash used in operating activities (3,576) (3,895)
Financing activities

Contributions:

Increase in contributions for loans 2,166 -

Repayments of contributions 3,161) (3,991)

Technical assistance contributions 18,093 15,847
Net cash provided by financing dactivities 17,098 11,856
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,522 7,961
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ot vear 17,491 9,530
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $31,013 $17,191

The accompanying schedules and notes form an integral part of these financial stataments.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Investments
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 1
2014 2013
Market Market
value value
Investments
Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss — Note 3
Government and Agency obligations $37,171 $36,844
Supranationals 3.858 4,119
Other securities at fair value through profit or loss
Mutnal Finds 9,024 8,776
Managed Funds 11,184 11,153
Equity Investments 10,386 9,769
Sub-total 71,623 70,661
Accrued interest 20 114
871,713 $70,775
Residnal Term to Contractnal Maturity
2014 2013
1 3 months $33,148 $20.812
3 months - 1 vear 12,940 7,078
1 year - 5 years 25,625 29,8995
5 vears - 10 vears = 3,986
$71,713 870,775

CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014 137



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2014
Member countries Principal % ol Tolal
in which loans repaid to Loans
have been made Bank Undisbursed Ol:tss't:amdingl’r QOutstanding
Anguilla $460 $- $31 0.0
Antigua and Barbuda 4,197 - 4,209 3.6
Rarbados 19411 - 6,553 5.7
Belize 8,953 - - 0.0
British Virgin Islands 1.893 - - 0.0
Cayman Islands 2,817 - - 0.0
Dominica 16,192 1,420 18,541 16.1
Grenada 29350 4 22.934 198
Guyana 17.210 - 3,459 3.0
Jamaica 39,052 - 29770 25.7
Montserrat 1,218 - - 0.0
St. Kitts and Nevis 5,158 - 2,824 2.4
St. Lucia 17.331 1,087 18,776 16.2
SL Vincenl and the Grenadines 14,059 862 7,855 6.8
Trinidad and Tobago 2,321 - 857 0.7
Regional 2,225 - - 0.0
Sub total 161,162 3,373 115,800 100.0
Accrued interest - - 640
$161,462 $3.373 $116,449

1/There were no overdue installments of principal at December, 2014 (2013 -pul).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2013
Member countries Principal % of Total
in which loans repaid to Loans
have been made Bank Undisbursed Outstanding’  Outstanding
Anguilla $111 $- 856 0.1
Antigua and Barbuda 3,982 - 4,555 38
Barbados 19,034 - 7,008 6.0
Belize 9,335 - - -
British Virgin Islands 1,920 - - -
Cayman Islands 2,089 - - -
Dominica 15,958 1,420 19,160 l6.1
Grenada 8,553 4 21,968 18.5
Guyuria 17,055 - 3,737 31
Jamaica 38,018 - 31,095 26.2
Montserrat 1,252 - - -
St. Kitts and Nevis 5,246 - 3,219 27
St. Lucia 16,853 2,200 18,980 16.0
SL Vincenl and the Grenadines 13,911 1,482 7,875 6.6
Trinidad and Tobago 2515 - 1,088 0.9
Regional 2,232 - - -
Sub-total 159,207 5,205 118,831 100.0
Accrued interest - - 663
$159.297 §5.208 $119,494

1/There were overdue installments of principal of §540 at December 31, 2013 (2012 - rul).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2014

Principal % of Total

repaid to Loans
Analysis by Contributor Bank Undishursed Ouistanding” Outstanding
Members
Trinidad and Tobago $1,311 3- $3 0.0
Other contributors
Caribbean Development Bank 17.718 1,087 56,154 485
Nigeria 6,138 - 3,497 3.0
United States of America 92,976 - 31 0.0
Inter-American Development Bank 20,106 2,286 38,805 33.0
European Union 7,020 2 1,997 1.7
International Development
Associglion 15,293 - 15,262 13.2
Sub-total 161,462 3,373 115,809 100.0
Accrued interest - - 640

$161,462 $3.373 $116,449

1/ There were no overdus inctallmente of principal a December 31, 2014 (2012 — nily.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2
2013

Principal %o of Total

repald to Loans
Analysis by Contributor Bank _ Undishursed Outstanding"  Outstanding
Members
Trinidad and Tobago $1,306 - $3 0.0
Other contributors
Caribbcan Development
Bank 16,072 2,137 57,470 48.4
Nigeria 5,891 - 3,744 31
United States of America 92,951 - 56 0.1
Inter-American Development
Bank 19,381 3,008 37,920 31.9
Curopean Union 8,707 - 2,535 2.1
International Devel opment
Association 14,989 - 17,097 14.4
Sub-total 159,297 5,205 118,831 100.0
Accrued interest - - 663

$159,297 $5,205 $119,494

1/ Thers were no overdue installments of principal at December 31, 2013 (2013-$340).
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2

2014
Loans Trans- Loans
out- lation Net out-
standing adjust-  interest Disburse- Sub- Repay- standing
Currencies recelvable 2013 ment earned ments total ments 2014
Euros $2,535 $(299) $- 3- $2,230 $(239) $1,997
Special Drawing Rights 13,948 (828) - - 13,120 (809) 12,311
United States dollars 102,348 . = 3,474 105,822  (4321) 101,501
Sub-total 118,831 (1,127) = 3474 121,178 (5,369 115,809
Accrued interest! 663 y (23) . 640 . 640
$119.494 §(1.127) 523 $3.474 §121.818 §(5.369) $116.449

Maturity structure of loans outstanding

January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 $7.112
Jannary 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 6,645
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 6,882
January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 6,884
Jarmary 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 6,887
January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024 33,928
January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2029 26,231
Jannary 1, 2030 to December 31, 2034 16,572
January 1, 2035 to December 31, 2039 2,087
January 1, 2040 to December 31,2044 654
Jannary 1, 2045 to December 31, 2052 2.567

$116,449

1/ Relates to amounts dishursed and outstanding.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Loans (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 2

2013
Loans Trans- Loans
out- lation Net out-
standing adjust- interest Disburse- Sub- Repay- standing
Currencies receivable 2012 ment earned ments total ments 2013
Euros $2,686 $119 $- 8- $2,805 $(270) $2,535
Special Drawing Rights 15,040 30 - - 15,070  (1,122) 13,948
United States dollars 105,510 - - 89 105,599  (3,251) 102,348
Sub-total 123,236 149 - 39 123474 {4,643) 118,831
Accrued interest! 859 (196) 663 663
$124,095 $149 $(196) $89  $124,137 $(4,643) $119,494

Maturity structure of loans outstanding

January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 $6,105
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 6,512
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 6,686
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 6,923
January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 6,926
January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2023 34,377
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2028 28,471
January 1, 2029 to December 31, 2033 18,904
January 1, 2034 to December 31, 2038 3,646
January 1, 2039 to December 31, 2047 944

$119,494

1/ Relates to amounts dishursed and outstanding.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Contributions
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2014
Contributions
Amounts
Total made
Contributors Y available
Members
Canada $6,726 $6,726
Other contribulors
Inter-American Development Bank 148 148
Contributed resources 0,374 0,874
Other contributors
Inter- American Development Bank 39,550 39,550
European Investment Bank 1,215 1,215
United States Agency for International Development 2,874 2,874
European Union 2,907 2907
International Development Association 16,809 16,809
Repayable contribntions 63,355 63.355
$70,229 $70,229
1/Het of cancellations and repayments
Maturity structurc of repayable contributions outstanding
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 $4,308
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 3,282
Janvary 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 3,381
Jamary 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 3,228
Jamary 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019 3,067
January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024 13,033
Januvary 1, 2025 to December 31, 2029 11,811
January 1, 2030 to December 31, 2034 9,034
January I, 2035 to December 31, 2039 6,077
January 1, 2040 to December 31, 2053 6,134
$63,355
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES - OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Contributions (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2013
Contributions
Amounts
Total made
Contributors H available
Members
Canada $6,880 $6,880
Other contributors
Inter-American Development Bank 148 148
Contributed resources 7,028 7,028
Other contribulors
Inter- American Development Bank ! 38,659 38,659
European Investment Bank 1,377 1.377
United States Agency for International Development 3,467 3,467
European Union 3,703 3,703
International Development Association 18,689 18,689
Repayable contributions 65,895 65,895
$72,923 $72,923
Maturlty structure of repayable contributions outstanding
Jamary 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 $3,272
Jamuary 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 3,197
January 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016 3,379
January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 3,479
January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018 3,326
Jamary 1, 2019 to December 31, 2023 14,103
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2028 12117
Januvary 1, 2029 to December 31, 2033 9,948
January 1, 2034 to December 31, 2038 6,742
Jammary 1, 2039 to December 31, 20435 0,332
$65,895

1/1Tet of cancellations and repayments.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Summary Statement of Contributions (cont’d)
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 3
2014
Draw-

Contri- downs/ Contri-

butions Trans- appro- butions

made lation priations made

Currencies available adjust- from Sub- Repay- available
Repayable 2013 ment capital total ments 2014
Japanese Yen $52 $(6) $- $46 $(30) $16
Canadian dollars 1,952 (160) - $1,792 $(44) $1,748
Euros 5,080 (599) - 4,481 (359) 4,122
Pounds sterling 79 (5) - 74 49 25
Special Drawing Rights 15,578 (923) - 14,633 (760) 13,893
Swedish kroners 32 (5) - 27 (18) 9
United States dollars 50,151 - 2,166 52,317 (1,901) 50,416
$72,924 $(1,700) $2,166 $73,390 $(3,161) $70,229

2013
Draw-

Contri- downs/ Contri-

butions Trans- appro- butions

made lation priations made

Currencies available adjust- from Sub- Repay- available
Repayable 2012 ment capital total ments 2013
Canadian dollars $2.139 $(139) $- $2.000 ${48) $1,952
Euros 5,251 233 - 5484 (404) 5,080
Japanese yen 105 19 - 86 (34) 52
Pounds sterling 128 3 - 131 (52) 79
Special Drawing Rights 16,353 33 - 16,386 (808) 15,578
Swedish kroners 52 - - 52 (2D 31
United States dollars 52,775 - - 52,775 (2,624) 50,151
$£76,803 $111 $ £76,914 $(3,991) $72,923

14 -
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Accumulated Net Income
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 4
2014

Brought Net Carried

forward Income/(Loss) forward

Contributors 2013 2014 2014
General Funds $42.518 $2,927 $45.445
European Investment Bank {900) 123 (867)
European Union 2,557 (36) 2,521
Inter-American Development Bank (43) (148) (191
International Development Association 214 69 283
Nigeria 6,048 (l6) 6,032
United States of America 2,019 {(79) 1,940
$52,323 $2,840 $55,163

2013

Brought Net Carried

forward Income/(Loss) forward

Contributors 2012 2013 2013
General Funds $40,783 $1,735 $42,518
Europcan Investment Bank (944) (46) (990)
European Union 2,578 (21) 2,557
Inter-American Development Bank 330 (382) {43)
International Development Association 228 (14) 214
Nigeria 6,115 (67) 6,048
United States of America 2,308 (289) 2,019
$51,407 $916 $52,323

=15
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Technical Assistance and Other Grant Resources
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 5
2014
Contributors
Amounts Net
Total made Amounts Amounts
Contributors v available utilized available
Members
Canada $59,032 $59,032 $40,754 318,278
United Kingdom 27,311 27,311 16,666 10,618
Ttaly 522 522 252 270
86,868 86,868 57,672 29,196
Other contributors
Caribbean Development Banlk 228,042 228,042 127,377 100,665
United States of America 1,407 1,407 1,407 -
Inter-American Development Bank 3,540 3,540 3,350 190
Chima 677 677 198 479
Venezuela 587 587 - 587
Nigcria 193 193 147 46
European Commission 16,386 16,386 3464 13,122
Deutsche Gesellshaft fiw Internationale Zusammenarbeit
(GIZ) GmbH 298 298 138 140
Eurapean Tnvestment Bank Climate Action Support 2,184 2,184 - 2,184
Sub-total 253,514 253,514 136,101 117,413
Total — December 31 $340,352 $340,352 $193,773 $146,609
Summary
Basic Needs Trust Fund $154,750 $154,750 $94,309 $60,441
Olher resources 185,032 185,032 99404 86,168
$340,382 $340,382 $193,773 $146,609

1/Met of cancellation and resources fully wiilized and expendedin non-reimbursable operations.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Statement of Technical Assistance and Other Grant Resources
As of December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

SCHEDULE 5
2013
Contributors
Amounts Net
Total made Amounts Amounts
Contributors 1 available utilized available
Members
Canada $54,500 $54,500 $40,348 $14.152
United Kingdom 30,485 30,485 14,471 16,014
Tlaly 522 522 252 270
85,507 85,507 55,071 30,436
Other contributors
Caribbean Development Bank 225,551 225,551 117,898 107,656
United States of America 1,407 1,407 1,407 -
Inter-American Development Bank 3,511 3,511 3349 162
China 677 677 198 479
Venezuela 587 587 - 587
Nigeria 193 193 117 16
European Commission 4,534 4,534 2,795 1,739
Deutsche Gesellshaft fiir Internationale Zusammenarbeit
(GIZ) GmbH 194 194 154 40
Sub-total 236,657 236,657 125,948 110,709
Total $322,164 $322.164 $181,019 $141,145
Summary
Basic Needs Trust Fund $152,250 $152,250 $85,402 $66,848
Other resmirces 169914 169914 95,617 74,297
$322.164 $322.164 $181.019 $141.145

Liret of cancellation and resources fully withized and expendedin non-reimbursable operations.

CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014 149



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Nature of opcrations and summary of significant accounting policics
Nature of operations

The Other Special Fund Group (OSF or the Fund) was established to carry out the special operations
of the Caribbean Development Bank (the Bank) by providing resources on concessional terms to
assist borrowing members primarily for poverty reduction. Resources are provided by contributions
from members and other contributors.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Due to the nature of the OSF, these financial statements have been prepared for the specific purpose
of reflecting the sources and applications of member subscriptions and contributions and other
development resources. These financial statements are not intended to be presented in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies outlined below.

Preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilitieg at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporied period. Actual results could differ [rom these eslimates.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is the United States dollar (US$) and the Fund’s
financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand. Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies
other than United States dollars are translated af market rates of exchange prevailing af the reporting
dale. Non-momnetary ilems measured al historical cost in curtencies other than Uniled Stales dollars
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into United States dollars at applicable rates of
exchange on the transaction dates. Any gains or losses arising as a result of differences in rates
applied to income and expenses and to assets and liabilities are shown as an exchange gain or loss in
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income for the vear.
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CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Summary of significant accounting policics... continued
Investments

All investment securities with the exception of equities are in a portfolio designated at fair value
through profit or logs and reported at fair market value. Securities are recognised on the statement of
financial position when the Fund assumes related contractual rights and de-recognised when the rights
to secure cash flows from the financial asset expire or when all risks and rewards of ownership have
been substantially transferred.

Equity instruments are carried at cost where thev do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and their fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date which is the
date the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All securities are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the statement
of comprehensive income and accumulated net income in the period during which they arise. Gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of securities designated at fair value through profit or
loss are included in the profit for the vear. Interest or dividend income earned whilst holding
securitics iz reported as “Interest and similar income - investments and cash balances” in the
statement of comprehensive income and accurmulated net income.

Equity investments are assessed for impairment annmally. The impairment assessment is based on the
net book value of the underlying asset and adjusted if the carrying value is less than the Fund’s
proportionate share of net assets. Impairment losses are recorded within income from investments and
cash balances in the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income. Amounts
distributed to the Fund are recorded ag a return on investment until such investments are written off
and are subsequently recorded as income.

Determination of fair value

For securities traded in active markets, the determination of fair values is based on quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations. A security is regarded as quoted in an active market if prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent aclual and regularly occurring markel (ransactions on an
arm’s length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market ig regarded as being inactive.

For debt securitieg in inactive markets fair value is determined vsing valuation techniques. In these
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments,
using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows, or other valuation
techniques, using inpuis (for example, LIBOR vield curves, FX rates, volatilities and counterparty
spreads) existing at the reporting date.
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(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies... continued
Investments... confinued

The Fund uses widely recognized valuation models for determining fair values of non-standardised
financial instrumenis. For these securities, inputs into models are generally market-observable.

Loans

Loang and receivables are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any impairment.
recognise

All loans by the Fund are made either [rom currencies available fom members’ subscriptions or fom
currencies borrowed and the principal amounts are payable to the Fund in the currencies lent. The
balances outstanding on loans to members and their agencies are secured by guarantees of the
Governments of the member countries in which the loans are made.

The Fund is onc of very few lenders of development and structural adjustment loans to Caribbean
countries. There is no secondary market for development loans nor does the Fund intend to sell these
loans. As a result, the use of market data to armrive at the fair value of loans will not yield any
meaningfinl resmlts.

The Fund does not make provisions for impairment on loans as any loss that may occur is taken into

the statement of comprehensive income and accumulated net income in the year that the impairment
occurred.

152 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK
SPECIAL FUNDS RESOURCES — OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014

(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. Summary of significant accounting policics... continued
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Technical assistance and grants

Technical assistance and grants for capital projects to borrowing member countries are provided
either from non-reimbursable grants received from contributors or from other resources specifically
dllocated for this purpose. The coniributions [rom donors are included in the Gnancial stalemenis
from the date of the contribution agreement. Technical assistance is recognised when the project is
approved and becomes effective.

Interest income and charges on contributions

Interest income and charges on contributions are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income and accumulated net income for all interest-bearing instruments carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial Liability.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses incurred by the Bank which cannot be directly charged to individual funds
are allocated between the OCR, the OSF and the SDF in accordance with a method of allocation
which is approved by the Board of Directors.

2. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2014 2013

Due from banks $19,810 $192
Time deposils 11,203 17,299
$31,013 $17,491
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(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

3. Investments at fair valuc through profit and loss

As part of its overall portfolio management strategy, the I'und invests in Government agency,
supranational and bank obligations, inchiding time deposits. The Find limits its activities of investing
in secwrities to well established dealers and counterparties meeting mininmm credit rating standards
gset by the Fund.

The annualised rate of return on the average investments held during the vear, including realised and
unrealised gains and losses was 1.07% (2013: 0.19%). Net realised gains on investments traded
during 2014 amounted to $541 (2013: $1,169) and net unrealized losses of $27 (2013: $963).

4. Tunds

In accordance with the Agreement establishing the Bank (the Charter), Special Funds Resources
comprige the SDF and OSF established or administered by the Bank, including technical assistance
and other granl resources coniribuled on 4 non-reimbursable basis. For the purposes of these
financial statements, the OSF have been presented separately from the SDF. The OSF are established
in accordance with agreements between the Bank and the contributors and are for specific tvpes of
projects as agreed between the Bank and the contributors. In accordance with the Agreement, each
Special Fund, its resources and accounts are Kept entirely separate from other Special Funds, their
resources and accounts.

These financial statements reflect the aggregated position of all the funds that comprise the OSF.

Technical assistance and other grant resources include resources for the Basic Needs Trust Fund and
other resources established for specific purposes as determined between the Bank and contributors.
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4. Funds... continued

Details of contributions, loans and technical assistance resources of the OSF are stated at the
equivalent in thousands of United States dollars where such contributions, loans and technical
asgistance grants have been made in currencies other than United States dollars and are as follows:

2014 2013
Canada
Agricultural! (Schedule 3) $6,726 $6,880
Techmical assistance resources (Schedule 5) 59,032 34,500
Ttaly
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $522 $522
China
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) 8677 8677
Venezuela
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $587 $587
Nigeria
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $193 $193
United Kingdom
Technical assistance resources $27.314 $30.485
Inter-American Development Bank
975/SFRG $14,212 $14,212
Less repayments (5,203) (4,784
0,009 0,428
Second Global Loan $4,583 $4,887
Less repayments {4,344 (4,447)
239 440
1108/SF-RG Globadl Credit $20,000 $20,000
Less repayments (1,639) (984)
18,361 15,016

! The contributions are interest-tree with no date tor repayment.
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4, Funds... contined

Inter-American Development Bank... continued

2014 2013
1637/SF-RG Credit $9.923 $9.923
2798/BL Regional Global Loan - OECS 2,166 -

12,089 9.923
Sub- total (Schedule 3) $39.698 $38,807
Technical assistance resonrces (Schednle 5) $3,540 $3,511

Loan 975/SF-RG is subject to interest at the rate of 1% per annum until 2006 and thereafter at 2% per
annmum and is repayable during the period 2003 to 2036.

The second global loan was subject to interest at the rate of 1% per annum until 1994 and thereafter at
2% per annum and is repayable during the period 1995 to 2015.

Global Credit 1108/SF-RG was subject to interest at the rate of 1% for the first ten yvears and 2%
thereafter and is repayable during the period 2012 to 2042.

Crenada Reconstruction 1637/SI'-RG is subject to interest at the rate of 1% per annum until 2015 and
thereafter at 2% per annum and is repayable during the period 2016 to 2045.

The loans are subject to a credit fee of 0.5% per annum on any undrawn balance.

2014 2013

European Investment Bank

Global loanII - B $1,215 $1,377

Repayable in full in a single installment on September 30, 2016.
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(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

4. Funds... continued

2014 2013 Due Dates
United States of America
Contiibutions
Agricultural $7.052 $7,052 1988-2018
Less repayments (3,882} 1,170 (3.570) 1,482
Emplovment Investment 1990-2000
Promotion 6,732 6,732
Less repayments (5,028) 1,704 (4,747) 1,985
Housing 8,400 8,400 1983-2012
Less repayiments (8,400) - (8,400) -
(Schedule 3) 2,874 $3,467
Technical Assistance resources
{Schedule 5) $1,407 $1,407

All contributions are subject to interest at the rate of 2% per annum on the amount outstanding for the
first ten years after first disbursement and thereafier, at the rate of 3% per anmmm.

2014 2013
European Union
First Contribution $7,107 $8,056
Less repavments {5,253) 1,854 {(5,667) 2,389
Second Contribntion 3.012 3,415
Less repayments (1,959) 1,053 (2,101) 1,314
{Schedule 3) $2,907 $3,703

The contributions are subject to interest at the rate of 1% per annum. The first contribution is repayable
during the period 1992 to 2021 and the second contribution is repayable over the period 1994 to 2024,
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4. Funds... continued

International Development Association

2014 2013 Due dates
Credit No. 960/CRG $6,480 $6.480 1990-2029
Less repayments (3,564) 2,916 (3.370) 3,110
Credit No. 1364/CRG 7.858 8.354
Less repayments (3,497) 4,361 (3,467) 4,887 1993-2033
Credit No. 1785/CRG 0,711 7,135
Less repayments (2,181) 4,530 (2,105) 5,030 1997-2030
Credit No. 2135/CRG 8,068 8,578 2000-2030
Less repayments (3,066) 5,002 (2,916) 5,662
(Schedule 3) $16,809 $18,689

The credits are subject to a service charge of 0.75% per anmum on amounts outstanding. In addition,
the credits totaling 2014: $13,893 (2013: $15,579) are subject to a commitment fee not exceeding
0.5% per annmum on amounts eligible for withdrawal but remain undrawn.

2014 2013
Caribbean Development Bank
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $228,042 $225,554
Deutsche Gesellshaft Internationale
Zusammenarbeit (GI1Z)
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $298 3194
European Investment Bank Climate Action
Support
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $2,184 $-
European Commission
Technical assistance resources (Schedule 5) $16,586 $4,534
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5. Total accumulated income and total comprehensive income for the year
It is normal for the Board of Governors to determine the disposition of the accunlated net income
and net income for the current vear of each of the Other Special Funds, subject to any rules and
regulalions govering each Fund and any agreement relating thereto.

6. Loans

The average interest rate earned on loans outstanding was 2.20% (2013: 2.23%). There were no
impaired loans at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

7.  Accounts receivable

2014 2013
Institutional receivables $60,361 865,155

8. Accounts pavable
2014 2013
Accounts payable - general $2,643 $1,917
Interfiind payable 4,658 4,658
$7,301 $6,575
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(expressed in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise stated)

7.  Accounts receivable

2014 2013
Institutional receivables $60.361 $65.455

8. Accounts payable
2014 2013
Accounts payable - general $2.643 $1.917
Interfund payable 4,658 4,658
$7,301 $6,575

160 CARIBBEAN DEVELOPMENT BANK ANNUAL REPORT | VOLUME TWO 2014



OUR PURPOSE

“The purpose of the Bank shall be to
contribute to the harmonious economic
growth and development of the
member countries of the Caribbean
(hereinafter called the region) and

to promote economic cooperation

and integration among them, having
special and urgent regard to the less
developed members of the region”

Article 1 — Agreement Establishing the
Caribbean Development Bank

MISSION STATEMENT

CDB’s Mission is to be the leading
catalyst in the reduction of

poverty through the inclusive and
sustainable development of our
BMCs by mobilising development
resources in an efficient, responsive
and collaborative manner with
accountability, integrity and
excellence.
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